## CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

**Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences** 



# Influencing Factors for Household Decisions on Adoption and

Use of Biogas Technology: Case of Ghana

MASTER'S THESIS

Prague 2023

Author: BSc. Konadu Peter Kwame

Chief supervisor: Doc. Ing. Hynek Roubík, Ph.D.

## DECLARATION

I, Konadu Peter Kwame, hereby declare that I have done this thesis entitled "influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology: case of Ghana" independently, all texts in this thesis are original, and all the sources have been quoted and acknowledged by means of complete references and according to Citation rules of the FTA.

In Prague 20.4.2023

Konadu Peter Kwame

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank God by whose mercy, grace and glory have enabled me to complete this thesis. I give thanks and praise to God.

I express my gratitude to my supervisor, Doc. Ing. Hynek Roubík, Ph.D who supervised this thesis. I will never forget his hardworking, patience, and words of encouragement. I also appreciate his worth comments and suggestions with expert guidance for the entire work. It is my prayer that God's abundant blessings will continue to flow in his life.

I would like to thank to the households at Offinso North District of Ashanti Region in Ghana that had functional biogas plants who were considered as biogas adopters with at least a year's worth of biogas installations and responded to the questionnaire. It is because of their responses that made analyses of this study possible.

### ABSTRACT

Investments in renewable energy technology are required because the majority African nations experience energy insecurity. According to a 2011 report by the United Nations, everyone needs access to sustainable energy, especially in emerging countries, to meet the country's growing energy needs and mitigate the effects of climate change. The main objective of the current study was to investigate the factors that influence household decisions about the adoption and use of biogas technologies and the benefits of implementation in terms of socio-economic, environmental, health, and climate issues in relation among households in rural areas of the Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana. The research design for the current study was quantitative with surveys using questionnaires to obtain the opinions of the respondents to formulate the research findings. To achieve the objective of this study, explanatory and descriptive research methods were employed. The research focused on rural households in the Offinso North (Ashanti region) in Ghana, and stakeholders in government and non-government institutions. The sample size was determined based on the number of adopters of the household and who were willing to respond to the questionnaire in the Offinso North District. Convenient sampling technique was employed. It was found that household adopters strongly agreed that the price of biogas technology installation is greater, training related to biogas technology is difficult to access, and the advantages of biogas energy are not widely known. The findings also showed that the family is reluctant to use biogas technology, the ability to obtain credit is challenging, and the time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash. Furthermore, having a reliable and sufficient water source is challenging, water supplies are insufficient and unreliable, crop yields are directly increased by biogas, and there are few livestock. It was also found that political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies are lacking, there is lack of knowledge and

minimal communication with potential adopters, there is lack of understanding among the populace as a whole, there is lack of consumer interest and public participation, adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates, adoption is still going slowly, lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas, installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays, there are not enough resources, and there is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized. Lastly, it was found that for the best biogas production, household adopters must use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio, Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator because they are challenging to remove, and to make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook are some approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure.

**Key words**: household decisions; adoption and use of biogas technologies; socio-economic issues; environmental issues; health issues; and climate issues.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
ABSTRACTiv
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURES x
ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THE THESIS xi
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Statement of the Problem
1.2 Significance of the Study
1.3 Organization of the Study
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 History of Dissemination of Biogas Technology in Ghana
2.2 Review of Types of Biogas Digesters
2.3 Contribution of Biogas Production to Rural Households12
2.4 Challenges Facing Biogas Users in Rural Communities13
2.5 Factors Affecting Biogas Adoption among Rural Households14
2.6 Overview and Current Status of Biogas Implementation
2.6.1 Asia-Pacific Countries (APAC)17
2.6.2 African Countries
2.7 Challenges to Biogas Implementation in Developing Countries
2.7.1 Technical and Infrastructural Challenges22
2.7.2 Financial Challenges
2.7.3 Policy and Political Challenges23
2.8 Strategic Measures to Improve Biogas Implementation
2.8.1 Technology and Education
2.8.2 Funding
2.8.3 Policy
2.8.4 Public Awareness Campaigns and Research and Development
2.9 Empirical Literature
3. AIMS OF THE THESIS
3.1 Specific objectives

3.2 Research questions
4. METHODS
4.1 Research design
4.2 Research purpose
4.3 Population
4.4 Sampling size and sampling technique
4.5 Data collection
4.6 Data collection sources
4.6.1 Primary data
4.6.2 Secondary source
4.7 Data analytical tools40
4.8 Reliability and validity of data41
4.8.1 Reliability41
4.8.2 Validity
4.9 Ethics
5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
5.1 Demographic data of respondents45
5.2 Descriptive statistics
5.2.1 The level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas technology46
5.2.2 Whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology
5.2.3 The approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure
5.3 Discussion of findings
5.3.1 The level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas technology57
5.3.2 Whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology
5.3.3 The approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure
6. CONCLUSIONS
7. REFERENCE
APPENDIX AI
QUESTIONNAIREI

APPENDIX B	IV
DATA COLLECTION PICTURES	IV

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Descriptive Statistics for the level of knowledge and perception of households about the
use of biogas technology
Table 2 Descriptive Statistics for whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and
use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate
aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology
Table 3 Descriptive Statistics the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the
development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of
the system failure

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Age of household adopters	45
Figure 2 Gender of household adopters	46

### **ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THE THESIS**

Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) Department of Energy (DoE) South African Biogas Industry Association (SABIA) Ministry of Energy (MoE) Institute of Industrial Research (IIR) German Agency for Technical Cooperation (GTZ) anaerobic baffled reactors (ABR) upflow anaerobic sludge blankets (UASB) Lavender Hill fecal treatment plant (LHFTP) Mudor waste water plant (MWWP) European Union (EU) Asia-Pacific Countries (APAC) National Project on Biogas Development (NPBD) National Biogas and Manure Management Programme (NBMMP) **Biogas Support Programme (BSP)** palm oil mill effluent (POME) sewage treatment plants (STP) municipal solid waste (MSW) Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries (MAFF) Cambodia Climate Change Alliance (CCCA) National Biodigester Programme (NBP) local investment programmes (LIP) climate investment programmes (KLIMP) Voluntary Emission Reduction (VER) research and development (R&D) renewable energy technologies (RETs)

biogas generation technology (BGT) Khyber Pakhtunkhwa province (KPK) crucial influencing factors (CRIFs) propensity score matching (PSM) statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) Centre for Innovation and Research in Teaching (CIRT)

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

Investments in renewable energy technology are required because the majority of African nations experience energy insecurity (Aliyu, Modu, and Tan 2017). The oil that the majority of African nations import from foreign nations inhibits economic progress and emphasizes how closely tied food security and energy security are to one another. Without enough energy, achieving food security is nearly impossible as food production and delivery require energy (Rasul and Sharma 2016). In light of the aforementioned circumstance, experts such as Maxwell (2014) have proposed that the implementation of biogas technology can be a viable strategy for lowering local levels of energy insecurity. Biogas digesters, according to Smith, Goebel and Blignaut (2014), helped achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and will undoubtedly be essential to achieve the ensuing Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Furthermore, it is expected that this will promote socioeconomic development, open up job opportunities, and lead to a sustainable and environmentally friendly growth route (Department of Energy-DoE 2015; South African Biogas Industry Association-SABIA 2016).

Rural populations spend money on electricity, but prices are still skyrocketing; Eskom estimates that expenses have increased by up to six times since 2006 (DoE 2012; Mwirigi et al. 2014; Puzzolo et al. 2016; Shallo, Ayele and Sime 2020; Ting and Byrne 2020). The Department of Energy (2012) added that this increase in energy prices would put a lot of pressure on rural populations. This forecast quickly came true as the load-shedding and outages took over in a few short years and are still going strong today. It is crucial that the government take into account potential energy replacements in response to the crisis and high energy prices (Arthur, Baidoo and Antwi 2011). The adoption of biogas is a critical step in addressing energy shortages. Furthermore,

because it is deemed useful for most rural populations, biogas energy is one of the most suitable energy resources to tackle this difficulty (see Msibi and Kornelius 2017). But because this energy is derived from garbage, there are unique difficulties. One of them is the offensive fragrance, which some people may find repulsive and may cause them to react or adopt in an unfavourable way.

Technology adoption is a difficult process that can involve adopting new technology or changing an existing technology. Farmers who are more experienced and older tend to be risk-averse (Meijer et al. 2015). According to Sibisi and Green's argument of (2005), perceptions, knowledge, and demographic considerations will all affect the uptake of renewable energy. Additionally, the choice of energy sources is greatly influenced by the economic level, size, and knowledge of the many energy sources available to the household. For example, DoE (2012) found that South African low-income households heavily rely on wood for cooking fuel. Energy is a crucial factor in determining the rate and stage of any nation's growth. For most developing nations, including Ghana, the services and supply of sustainable, affordable, adequate and reliable energy supplies have been a persistent and critical challenge. Energy is essential for both industrialised and developing nations to achieve inclusive and sustained growth, as evidenced by more recent research linking development to increased energy use (Negro et al., 2012).

Energy concerns have a significant impact on human, environmental, and social development in addition to economic progress (Amigun et al., 2011). Access to better energy services is essential for improving the nation's health, reducing poverty, fostering economic growth, boosting competitiveness, and promoting gender equality (Amigun et al., 2008). South Africa, like most other nations, relies heavily on fossil fuels to supply its energy needs. However, due to the

ecological and environmental issues related to its uses, this energy source has increasingly become unsustainable (Karekezi, 2002). Due to its heavy dependence on coal, the nation emits 9.1 metric tons of carbon dioxide per person, compared to 0.8 for sub-Saharan Africa and 5.4 for the global average (World Bank, 2015). Concerns about the sustainability of fossil fuels have increased public awareness of the need for and viability of renewable energy sources, which have been highlighted as an alternative solution to these issues (Karekezi, 2002). Evidence from the literature shows that a significant number of countries have used renewable energy sources to close the energy gap (Awan & Khan, 2014; Charters, 2001).

Energy sources that are continuously and freely produced in nature and are not exhaustible since they come from an endless source are known as renewable energy sources (Shahzad, 2012). Today, most of the world's 2.5 billion inhabitants rely on conventional biomass fuel for heating, lighting, and cooking. By 2030, it is estimated that more than 1.4 billion people could be without access to modern energy sources (Ghimire, 2013; Klasen et al., 2013). In addition, in poor nations, 500 million households still use traditional biomass fuel for cooking and heating. These households lack access to modern energy sources (UNDP, 2009; Bazilian et al., 2010). According to Arthur et al. (2011), the widespread depletion of fuelwood inventories would increase demand for the fuel, and the ensuing social and environmental effects force emerging countries to look for alternative and clean fuel sources. Standard of living, health, and ecology would all improve if rural communities stopped using biomass fuel and switched to cleaner technologies. Furthermore, it would increase the likelihood of sustainable economic growth (Bajgain and Shakya, 2005). Energy poverty refers to the lack of suitable possibilities to access sustainable and ecologically responsible energy resources that could hinder socioeconomic growth in a particular area. Energy poverty is sometimes defined as the inability to use contemporary cooking fuels and the lack of sufficient electrical lights for study or other evening activities with the family (Bridge, 2015). Energy is essential to attempts to reduce poverty and promote sustainable development. Energy has an impact on many aspects of development, including social, economic and environmental factors, as well as livelihoods, water access, agricultural production, population size, health, and gender-related concerns (Elavarasan et al., 2021). The achievement of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) depends on everyone having access to affordable, reliable and clean energy, especially in developing countries (Weststrate et al., 2019; Larionova, 2020; Cuenca-Garca et al., 2019). Energy is crucial to achieving universal primary education, according to the UN (2010). Biogas, hydropower, small wind, solar photovoltaics, ethanol and biodiesel, as well as geothermal energy for grid electricity and heat, are examples of renewable energy sources that are currently widely used in some regions and are being introduced in other areas of developing countries (Armin Razmjoo et al., 2020).

Inducing a paradigm shift toward green economies, poverty eradication/reduction, and eventual global sustainable development is largely dependent on renewable energy sources. Authorities pay more attention to solar, wind, geothermal, ocean, and hydro power, as well as other biofuels (biodiesel, ethanol), while placing less of an emphasis on biogas (Tian et al., 2021). However, biogas technology provides many advantages. It is a biological method for handling organic or biodegradable debris that uses anaerobic digestion or processing (biodegradable solid waste, sewage, animal dung, and fecal matter). For many years in Ghana, cowdung has been customary

as a fuel source for cooking (Shaibur et al., 2021; Ajieh et al., 2020). This is common in the northern savannah regions, where there is sometimes a shortage of fuel and charcoal for cooking in homes. In Ghana, interest in biogas technology started in the late 1960s, but it was not until the middle of the 1980s that the government gave it the attention it needed (Awafo & Agyeman, 2020). Before the mid-1980s, the government's involvement in the diffusion programmes was mostly centred on providing energy for household cooking (Awafo & Agyeman, 2020).

The need to develop and use alternative sources of cooking fuel was brought into sharp relief by the rapid depletion of the biomass resource base for woodfuels and the predicted increase in demand for woodfuels in the future, along with the associated social and environmental repercussions. Later in the 1987s, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) helped finance the development of two residential biogas technology plants at Jisonayilli and Kurugu in the northern area (Osei-Marfo et al., 2018). Ghana received a €5 million grant from the German government in 2019 to build a 400kW biogas plant that will generate power (Grant & Oteng-Ababio, 2021). Construction is scheduled to begin on October 1 this year, and the facility must be operational on September 1 next year. Therefore, it is essential to investigate the influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technologies and the implementation benefits in terms of socioeconomic, environmental, health and climate issues in relation between households in the rural areas of Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana.

#### **1.1 Statement of the Problem**

According to a 2011 report by the United Nations, everyone needs access to sustainable energy, especially in emerging nations, to meet the country's burgeoning energy needs and mitigate the

effects of climate change. Inducing a paradigm shift toward green economies, poverty eradication/reduction, and eventual global sustainable development is largely dependent on renewable energy sources. The focus of government attention on renewable energy sources is mainly solar, wind, geothermal, oceanic, and hydro power, as well as other biofuels (biodiesel, ethanol), with biogas receiving less attention. However, biogas technology provides many advantages. It is a biological method for handling organic or biodegradable debris that uses anaerobic digestion or processing (biodegradable solid waste, sewage, animal dung, and fecal matter). It happens without oxygen in order to stabilise the organic materials and produce biogas at the same time. Sewage sludge treatment is one of the first applications, say Mata-Alvarez et al. (2014). According to Dahiya & Joseph (2015), biogas technology is typically used for waste management because all other alternatives are either energy intensive, cumbersome, or hazardous to the environment.

Environmentally friendly biogas technology is widely used and has been embraced in many countries. Although its use is progressively increasing in various South American and Asian nations, the same cannot be said about Ghana or Africa as a whole. Residential and commercial biogas technology is widely used in Nepal, China, India, and Latin America (Bensah & Brew-Hamond, 2010; Garfi et al., 2016). Numerous studies have shown that the method offers a number of advantages, such as a sustainable energy source, improved cleanliness, a rich biofertilizer, and lower emissions (Surendra et al. 2014; Rupf et al. 2015; Khann & Martin 2016; Ahiataku-Togobo & Owusu-Obeng 2016). However, the design, construction, and operation of a biogas digester play key roles in the acceptability of biogas technology, according to Sasse (1988), who underlines that biogas technology is only usable when there is a biogas digester or plant. The expense cannot be

ignored because building a digester is necessary for biogas technology. According to some experts, digesters' high initial cost is a key barrier to their adoption in Africa, where many people fall below or are below the low-income group level (Karekezi 2002; Amigun & Blottnitz 2010; Bensah & Brew-Hamond 2010; Smith 2011; Mulinda et al. 2013; Rupf et al. 2015).

Biogas technology is conceptually simple and easy to understand and the raw materials are plentiful (Karekezi 2002). However, numerous initiatives have failed or encountered difficulties quickly after their distribution. This can be attributed to the African governments' inability to support the technology through targeted energy policies, sub-par diffusion/dissemination strategies, sub-par digester design and construction, sub-par user operation and maintenance, sub-par project monitoring and follow-up by promoters, and sub-par user ownership responsibility (Njoroge 2002). Only a well-designed biogas digester can meet client/user expectations. Anecdotal data reveal that most digesters are installed or maintained by other professionals who are also service providers rather than biogas technologists, despite the fact that many people from various backgrounds view the biogas sector as lucrative. These service providers (biogas technologists) may or may not have received official training in the construction of biogas digesters from a recognised university or organisation. Numerous other studies have been conducted on the use of biogas technologies in Africa (Lemlem, 2016; Getachew, 2016; Melaku et al., 2017; Woldesilassie and Seyoum, 2017).

Households are less likely to accept technology due to socioeconomic, cultural, institutional, and innovative factors (Kelebe et al., 2017). The quantity of tropical animals, the distance from the market and the distance from the main road are among the elements that have a significant impact

on whether or not fuel-efficient stoves will be used (Legesse et al., 2015). The adoption of fuelefficient stoves is influenced by the financial situation of the household heads (Kanangire et al., 2016). This study suggests that the use of fuel-efficient stoves is positively correlated with household income. Additionally, the emergence of cutting-edge technology, such as fuel-efficient stoves, is greatly influenced by education (Lewis and Pattanayak, 2012; Legesse et al., 2015). The adoption of clean and contemporary energy fuels and technologies by households is influenced by a number of factors, including household size, income, education, and fuel prices (Muller and Yan, 2018). However, the state of energy use today and the variables that influence the adoption of biogas technology in rural households have not been adequately studied. Most rural households still use conventional biomass energy sources and many of them have never heard of the technique.

Furthermore, there has been little progress in biogas installation at the study site; now, only 66 houses are using the technology. Due to the lack of fuelwood and other household energy sources in the research site, it is also very typical to see women and children compete for dung fuel in communal grazing fields. Therefore, it is necessary to investigate why the adoption of biogas technology has been slow. The objective of this study was to investigate the influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technologies and the benefits of implementation in terms of socioeconomic, environmental, health, and climate issues in relation among households in the rural areas of Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana.

#### **1.2 Significance of the Study**

The purpose of the study is to provide policy makers with information on sustainable and flexible methods of influencing factors for home adoption and the advancement of biogas

technology. Additionally, it will add to the amount of knowledge already known about biogas technology.

#### 1.3 Organization of the Study

The study was organised into seven sections. The first section focused on the introduction. This was present in the study background, problem statement, significance of the study, and organisation of the study. The second section includes the review of the literature of the study. The third section outlines research objectives, research questions. The fourth section outlines the methods used to carry out the study. This focused on the research design, the study population, the sampling and sampling technique of the study, the data collection tools, the analysis of the data collected, and ethical consideration. The fifth section addressed results and discussion. The sixth section conclusion and the last section presents the references.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This section contains history of dissemination of biogas technology in Ghana, review of types of biogas digesters, contribution of biogas production to rural households, challenges facing biogas users in rural communities, factors affecting biogas adoption among rural households, overview and current status of biogas implementation, challenges to biogas implementation in developing countries, strategic measures for improved biogas implementation, and empirical literature.

#### 2.1 History of Dissemination of Biogas Technology in Ghana

Ghana has been a leader in the dissemination of biogas technology since the late 1960s, with the creation of electricity and the production of energy for cooking as the main drivers. According to Bensah and Brew-Hamond (2010) and Ahiataku-Togobo & Owusu-Obeng (2016), most early biogas plants failed soon after project execution due to inadequate distribution procedures and underdeveloped technology (Bensah & Brew-Hamond 2010). The "Integrated Rural Energy and Environmental Project" in Appolonia, Accra, was one of the first significant communal biogas demonstration projects in Ghana, founded by the Ministry of Energy (MoE) in 1986. There, 19 small household digesters were erected. The goal was to supply electricity to light up homes and streets, fuel for cooking and biofertilizer for agriculture (Bensah & Brew-Hamond 2010; Arthur et al. 2011; Bensah et al. 2011), especially for livestock-owning households. 16 digesters were destroyed out of concern for explosion, and three were broken. A 10 m3 digester was built at the Bank of Ghana cow ranch in Shai Hills, Accra, about the same time (Arthur Baidoo & Antwi 2011; Bensah et al. 2011).

#### 2.2 Review of Types of Biogas Digesters

There are three primary types of biogas digesters: balloon, permanent dome, and floating drum (Sasse 1988). Other variants have emerged as a result of adjustments made to meet modern needs. Fixed dome, floating drum, and Puxin digesters are the three main designs that have been developed, tested, and distributed in Ghana (Arthur et al. 2011). The fixed dome is essentially a brick-built underground chamber with a fixed, immovable dome on top for storing gas. They are mostly made because they are considered reasonably priced. The floating drum type consists of an underground digester and a mobile gas holder that has a mild steel drum on top of the digester. In other words, it contains a distinct architecture for producing and gathering gas. The gas storage drums either floats on top of the fermentation slurry or is submerged in its own water jacket (Sasse 1988). Bensah et al. (2011) claim that because the gasholder can be removed at any time to remove scum that has formed, floating drum digesters are perfect for digesting fibrous wastes, such as those from slaughterhouses, particularly the stomach content of cows or goats (inedible offal, lairage washings, sludge, blood, etc.).

However, due to its costly initial investment and ongoing maintenance expenses, the floating drum has become obsolete with the development of the fixed dome digester (Mulinda et al. 2013). The concrete Puxin digester has a carbon fibre gasholder (Bensah et al. 2011). With the exception of the gasholder, it is built by assembling steel shutters for concrete casting of all its components. In addition to the three regularly used biogas systems mentioned above, other biogas systems are used, such as anaerobic baffled reactors (ABR) and upflow anaerobic sludge blankets (UASB). The UASB is a sophisticated system for handling municipal and industrial wastewater. In Korle Gonno, Accra, a new version known as the Lavender Hill fecal treatment plant (LHFTP) and a renovated Mudor waste water plant (MWWP, also UASB), were put into service in November 2016. LHFTP can handle 2.4 million people per day at its maximum capacity of 2,400 m3/d (design capacity: 2,000 m3/d), but MWWP can handle 105,000 people per day at its highest capacity of 21,000 m3/d (design capacity: 18,000 m3/d).

Faecal waste is delivered to the MWWP from a few locations in and around Accra, and the biogas produced there is expected to produce between 400 and 500 kW of power for the national grid. LHFTP collects faeces from both private and public restrooms in Accra, as well as from a few locations outside the city. The ABR is being marketed by IIR for use by homes, businesses, and communities. It resembles a conventional septic tank system. The design, which closely resembles the septic tanks currently in use, was made with the intention of increasing technology acceptance, claim the concept's proponents. But unlike a septic tank, an ABR not only treats wastewater, but also creates gas.

#### 2.3 Contribution of Biogas Production to Rural Households

Msibi and Kornelius (2017) claim that low-income households in Ghana can save costs on fuel wood purchases, as well as the health risks associated with them, by implementing biogas technology. In this sense, people will save money while leading better lives. Importantly, Chakrabarty, Boksh, and Chakraborty (2013) underlined that increased agricultural income is associated with frequent use of biogas digesters in farms. Creating simply electric energy or combining it with carbon credits can accomplish this. Furthermore, rural farming households can benefit greatly from biogas technology. There are 2.3 million farming households in this country and 24% of them still cook with firewood. 33% of people living in the eastern Cape own livestock,

with the remaining people farming crops and other types of agriculture. Given that most rural homes use pit toilets, there is a potential for the production of significant amounts of biogas substrate (Statistics South Africa 2016). A significant contribution that biogas can make to low-income rural households is further demonstrated by the fact that up to 14% of the monthly income of rural people is spent on energy purchases, which is believed to be higher than the international standard of 10% for energy power (DoE 2012).

According to Chakrabarty, Boksh, and Chakraborty (2013), biogas generation indirectly increases the income of rural households. This is accomplished by using biogas in place of other energy sources. According to Chakrabarty, Boksh, and Chakraborty (2013), the time saved from gathering and preparing old fuel can also be used to make money. Furthermore, Wargert (2009) asserted that biogas generation could directly influence crop productivity by pointing out that digested slurry is a superior fertiliser. In fact, the substrates after processing produce a significantly superior fertiliser than they did before.

#### 2.4 Challenges Facing Biogas Users in Rural Communities

While low-income rural households can greatly benefit from biogas, there are certain obstacles to its adoption. These difficulties include restrictions on biomass utilisation and unique biogas digester and maintenance requirements. Another issue to consider is water availability, as this puts irrigation water and drinking water in competition (SABIA 2016). However, several studies have investigated the accessibility of grey water (Nape et al. 2019). Furthermore, according to Von Bormann and Gulati (2014), the amount of water required to produce power is expected to increase. Water allocation trade-offs between energy and agriculture will be difficult in this regard.

Although some developing nations, such as China, India, and Nepal, have successfully adopted biogas (see Bond and Templeton 2011), this has not been the case in many other nations where the digesters are not working. This is because there are not enough maintenance resources available, and the facilities that already exist aren't getting fixed. South Africa has also experienced this. For example, SABIA (2016) noted that the energy sector faces serious challenges due to a lack of qualified local labour and skilled manpower, as the system frequently relies on foreign nationals from wealthy countries to run the facilities.

In poor countries, it might be challenging to locate a grid connected to a large-scale biogas programme. Furthermore, the inability of rural farmers to invest in biogas facilities is a barrier to their progress (Wargert 2009). Furthermore, underground methane digesters that are installed are inundated during the rainy season, according to Wargert (2009), which requires a significant amount of maintenance effort and expense. This is related to the construction of methane digesters using unsuitable forms and materials (Mutungwazi, Mukumba and Makaka 2018). According to Taele, Gopinathan, and Mokhutsoane (2007), the seasonal movement of livestock in rural regions makes it challenging to collect enough animal waste to feed biogas digesters and causes a sizable interruption in generation capacity. A large-scale farming system makes it challenging to gather animal faeces, according to Wargert (2009). According to Nape et al. (2019), due to the cold winter months, the methane digesters built in rural communities do not produce enough biogas.

#### 2.5 Factors Affecting Biogas Adoption among Rural Households

According to the literature, a variety of factors can potentially affect the adoption of biogas digesters by rural families. Energy is essential for alleviating poverty, boosting human wellbeing,

and raising standards of living, claim Vera and Langlois (2007). However, most of the current energy supply and usage patterns are not sustainable. In this regard, several researchers, including Pollet, Stafell, and Adamson (2015) and Msibi and Kornelius (2017), view the implementation of biogas technology as the essential strategy for resolving South Africa's problems with energy insecurity and the environment. Adoption psychologically requires the application of a person's capacity for environmental awareness. When a person is knowledgeable and conscious, the adoption process can begin. Rejection could come next, or the adoption choice could be made. There are certain contextual aspects that affect the adoption process, including social and cultural context, climate, geography, and economic situations (Botha and Atkins 2005). To guarantee competence in long-term monitoring of biogas digesters, local populations need to be aware of the technology.

The goal of this initiative is to demonstrate to the government the value of biogas technology through the implementation of pilot biogas systems in agricultural areas (Wargert 2009). Furthermore, it is crucial to remember that a person's knowledge of technology reflects their opinions and attitudes about it (Meijer et al. 2015). Furthermore, Gakuu, Njoroge, and Nyonje (2013) noted that people's responses to biogas technology simply depend on their views or perceptions about its use and price, among other things. Perceptions may be favourable, leading them to invest in technology, or unfavourable, making them less likely to do so. The adoption of biogas digest by rural families is hampered by socioeconomic considerations, according to comprehensive research conducted across Sub-Saharan Africa (Mwirigi et al. 2014). Based on the amount of available disposable income in the home and priorities that necessitate allocating limited resources within the household, household incomes are an important factor in selecting whether or

not to invest (Modiselle et al., 2005). The likelihood that a household will adopt or invest in biogas increases with household income.

We analyse additional factors that influence the adoption of biogas technology taking into account the significant advantages that biogas digesters provide low-income rural households, as stated in the previous sections. In other regions of Africa, it has been determined that the size of the household, the number of cattle possessed, and the size of the landholding are among the things that can have an impact (Shallo, Ayele and Sime 2020). Furthermore, the level of education has a significant impact on the adoption of biogas due to the expanded knowledge that comes with education (Puzzolo et al. 2016). In addition, effective leadership has been asserted to be crucial for the spread of biogas technology. The community looks to the innovators and adopters as the gatekeepers and decision makers when deciding whether or not to adopt the new technology (Rogers 1995).

#### 2.6 Overview and Current Status of Biogas Implementation

Approximately 35 billion m3 of equivalent methane - or 59 billion m3 of biogas - are produced globally each year, with the European Union (EU) contributing approximately half of that amount (Norouzi & Dutta, 2022). As a result, biogas production in developing nations has been inadequate and has made little progress. In terms of biogas production, developing nations lag behind their developed counterparts. Due to varying socioeconomic situations, technological advancements, degrees of development, and endowments of natural resources, the deployment of biogas in developing countries differs substantially between nations (Zupančič et al., 2022). China has the most household biogas plants in the world (Igliski et al., 2020), and small-scale domestic biogas

plants are widely implemented in these countries (Nevzorova, 2020). However, by building medium- and large-scale biogas facilities, most emerging nations are increasing their pace of growth to grow their biogas production. This section addresses biogas implementation and trends in Africa and the Asia-Pacific region, with a focus on emerging nations in these regions.

#### 2.6.1 Asia-Pacific Countries (APAC)

Biogas is an important treatment method for food waste in countries with good waste management and no landfills, such as Germany and Sweden. However, other nations do not combine waste management with biogas production. For example, the East Asia and Pacific region produces roughly 270 million tons of trash annually, but biogas adoption is still in its infancy. The implementation of biogas in China began in 1974, providing energy to rural areas and boosting their economies. Approximately 1.6 million biogas plants were erected, but by 1980, more than half of these plants had failed due to inadequate digester design. Between 1996 and 2012, the government committed a total of around 31 billion RMB to the development of biogas (Khan et al., 2021). Despite this significant investment, progress has been slow; research revealed that only around 19% of the biogas potential of China's rural areas has been used (Nurul et al., 2018). However, according to Glivin et al. (2021), around 38.5 million residential biogas digesters were installed in 2010 with an annual production of 13.08 billion m3, which grew to 41.93 million and 15.8 billion m3 in 2015, respectively (Khan et al., 2021).

According to estimates, the yearly target value for biogas generation in 2020 will be 20.7 billion m3 and 43.94 million household digesters (Khan et al., 2021). China has made considerable strides in the application of biogas, particularly through agricultural-based initiatives, and production is

currently rising as a result of the introduction of industrial-size digesters. Despite the progress made, there are still issues with policy, pretreatment technology, an unreliable industrial chain, norms and specifications, and technical issues caused by defective or sub-par digesters (Angelidaki et al., 2018). In order to improve people's access to energy services, India's biogas programme was formed in 1981 under the National Project on Biogas Development (NPBD). The National Biogas and Manure Management Programme (NBMMP) was launched in 2005 in an effort to address some of the issues that had been encountered, such as poor construction and material quality and a lack of accountability for failure. Only 40% of the anticipated potential of 12 million biogas plants have yet been installed, or roughly 5 million (Giwa et al., 2020).

Fixed dome reactors, floating drum reactors, and balloon or tube digesters are the three types of biogas reactors most frequently used. After researching the operation of current reactors and the difficulties encountered, the FOV textiles plug flow textile-based reactors have been introduced. In India, several of these recently developed reactors have been constructed to process mixed feedstock, cow dung, human excreta, and food waste. Although it is socially and culturally forbidden in some locations to use biogas made from animal or human waste, this is not acceptable for the use of biogas. Despite progress in India's biogas deployment, the trend is not encouraging. India now produces roughly 2.07 billion m3 of biogas annually, which is about 4% to 7% of its potential of 29 to 48 billion m3 (Williams et al., 2022). India continues to have several operational problems, particularly in the chilly regions (Williams et al., 2022). Wider adoption faces obstacles related to process monitoring and control, mixing, poor biogas yield, cost of building a biogas plant, plant maintenance, and dependability.

Over time, Nepal's use of biogas has risen; the government's agricultural department erected about 250 units in the middle of 1970. (Kaur et al., 2022). After that, the Netherlands provided financial support for the Biogas Support Programme (BSP), which resulted in the installation of roughly 6824 biogas plants between 1992 and 1994, a total of 174,591 in 2009, and currently more than 300,000 biogas plants. Government and foreign sponsors have helped spread the trend, although the technology has not yet been fully adopted; biogas only represents 0.6% of the overall energy share (Hasan et al., 2022). Furthermore, Nepal has the capacity to install more than 1.9 million plants, but only about 9% of this total capacity has been used. However, a survey has shown that carbon trading is currently helping to support biogas technology in Nepal, with VER, which is run by the World Bank, generating more than 600,000 USD annually (Sirothiya & Chavadi, 2020). Lack of water and sufficient feedstock, freezing temperatures (about 10°C) in Nepal's hilly terrain, installation expense, and awareness are the main problems of the country (Lewicki et al., 2018).

With an annual discharge of around 85 million tons of livestock waste, biogas technology has been used in Vietnam for more than 30 years. The SNV Netherlands Development Organisation installed 152,349 biogas plants overall in 2012; this number increased to 500,000 in 2015. Vietnam's annual biogas energy potential was projected by Roubk et al. (2018) to be 120 TJ in 2015 and to increase to 127 TJ in 2020. However, due to difficulties with technical services, funding, insufficient operational procedures, and a lack of relevant information, the promise has not been fully realised (Anwar et al., 2021). Being the major producers of palm oil, Indonesia and Malaysia have enormous potential for biogas from palm oil mill effluent (POME). From POME, sewage treatment plants (STP) and municipal solid waste (MSW), Indonesia has a total potential annual production of 4.35 billion m3 of bio-methane, while Malaysia has a total potential annual

production of 3 billion m3 of bio-methane from similar waste streams. By 2025, Malaysia's use of renewable energy is expected to increase from 2% to 20%. (Tagne et al., 2021).

Despite the potential and prospects, there are several obstacles to biogas implementation in Indonesia and Malaysia related to funding, government coordination, programme coherence, and planning. The Pakistani government began to implement biogas in the country in 2000; as of right now, 1200 biogas plants have been set up (Jelínek et al., 2021). An additional 10,000 biogas plant installations are anticipated in the next five years, with the goal of using 27% of the nation's biogas potential. In Pakistan, plant failure has been attributed to poorly maintained biogas digesters (Zheng et al., 2020) Through the National Biodigester Programme (NBP), the SNV Netherlands Development Organisation and the Cambodian Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries (MAFF) launched Cambodia's biogas initiative in 2016. Through the Cambodia Climate Change Alliance (CCCA), the NBP initiative received financial support from the governments of the Netherlands, Germany, the Czech Republic and the EU. In addition, the project was funded by Carbon Finance, which received revenue from the sale of verified carbon reductions.

As a result, 294 biogas digesters were erected in 2006, and by 2017, there were more than 26,000 biodigesters (Pandyaswargo et al., 2019). The full utilisation of Cambodia's biogas potential has been said to be hampered by a number of significant obstacles, including lack of understanding of the technology, distrust of the technology, adverse weather, and building problems.

#### 2.6.2 African Countries

The African Biogas Partnership Programme brought biogas technology to the continent. In Burundi, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Cote d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea, Lesotho, Namibia, Nigeria, Rwanda, Zimbabwe, South Africa and Uganda, several biogas digesters have been installed (Clemens et al., 2018). According to estimates, Nigeria, the most populous nation in Africa, has a biogas potential of 6.8 million cubic metres per day from animal manure and 913,440 tons of methane from MSW, which is equal to 482 MW of electricity [44]. By 2030, Nigeria is expected to produce 171 TJ of biogas energy (Yimen et al., 2018). Despite the promise of biogas in African nations and the viability of the technology having been demonstrated by various programmes, the technology is not widely used and large-scale applications have not been successfully implemented (Kemausuor et al., 2018; Dumont et al., 2021).

#### 2.7 Challenges to Biogas Implementation in Developing Countries

Locations, forms, cost structures, and usage patterns vary in the deployment of biogas; these variations depend on the level of development of the country (Patinvoh & Taherzadeh, 2019). The correct execution of policies, funding, technical services, sustainability, awareness, and education, all essential components of effective implementation and essential to realise the full potential of biogas, present obstacles in developing countries. In light of these difficulties, this section lists the problems faced by emerging nations and suggests tactical solutions for resolving them in the subsequent session.

#### 2.7.1 Technical and Infrastructural Challenges

Unlike industrialised nations, the establishment of a sustainable technology continues to be a significant obstacle to the application of biogas in poor nations. Developing countries have abundant biomass, but cannot use these resources effectively due to a lack of infrastructure that can support the necessary technology. Additionally, the success of implementing biogas depends on how well users comprehend technical fundamentals (Obaideen et al., 2022). Combining biogas technology with eco-agricultural technology has been challenging, since most biogas operators have not received enough technical training on biogas production (Aziz et al., 2019); this has also led to low biogas production. For example, the yield of the biogas produced is determined by the composition of the feedstock (organic and nutrient content, contaminants and potential inhibitors), which can also cause the failure of the entire biogas process. Additional factors contributing to low production and digester failure include a lack of technical ability to build high-quality digesters, a lack of understanding of the correct management of these digesters, and ineffective mixing capacities (Lu & Gao, 2021).

The performance of a biogas process is negatively affected by process instability, which occurs in biogas digesters as a result of temperature variations because the activity of the microorganism is decreased if the temperature is above or below its ideal range (Diouf & Miezan, 2019). There is no reliable technology to control operating temperature throughout winter, especially in countries of cold climate. When the temperature is below 15°C, digesters without insulators are ineffective; a prominent example is Nepal, which has a chilly climate (about 10°C) in a hilly terrain (Afridi & Qammar, 2020). Many developing nations have a water supply problem. Wet fermentation is a prevalent process for producing biogas; however, it uses excessive amounts of water, which is

problematic for poor nations with limited water resources. A challenge to transporting and applying digestate to agricultural land is the huge volume of biogas residue.

#### **2.7.2 Financial Challenges**

The growth of biogas implementation in developing countries is severely constrained by a lack of funding. A self-built home-scale biodigester with a 50 kg daily input capacity is currently estimated to cost around \$1500; this is a significant investment for those with limited financial resources when taking into account other costs, such as those associated with storage tanks, operations, purification, biogas compressors, and maintenance (Saidmamatov et al., 2021). For optimal biogas production, mechanical pretreatment is occasionally necessary before the digestion process; however, the cost of this is also fairly high (Gao et al., 2019). Additionally, industrial scale applications are necessary for the investment to be profitable, and the equipment required for such applications is very expensive and typically costs thousands of dollars; the price of a small industrial biodigester with a daily input capacity of 2000 kg is reported to range between \$500,000 and \$1,000,000 (Singh et al., 2020). Furthermore, the lack of technical professionals results in expensive maintenance costs. It is quite difficult to obtain commercial loans in underdeveloped nations, especially in rural areas, to invest in biogas infrastructure.

#### 2.7.3 Policy and Political Challenges

Most developing countries lack effective trash collection and sorting systems. Trash managers frequently combine several waste streams and dump them in uncontrolled landfills or burn them in the open (Osei-Marfo et al., 2018). There is no defined policy on the utilisation of renewable energy sources and environmental policy is relatively weak (Dehkordi et al., 2020). Another

significant obstacle preventing the adoption of biogas from progressing is the lack of government commitment and the inconsistent continuation of previous biogas programme projects under different governments (Mateescu & Dima, 2020). Corruption is a different issue that makes the implementation of biogas more expensive both financially and operationally, reducing the return-on-investment rate (Mukeshimana et al., 2021; Rasapoor et al., 2020).

#### 2.8 Strategic Measures to Improve Biogas Implementation

In this section, methods that industrialised nations have successfully implemented are discussed. Some of these tactics must be adopted by developing countries to encourage the development of biogas implementation.

#### 2.8.1 Technology and Education

Developing nations must create their own, more affordable digestion systems with simple installation and operation methods. It is important to streamline technical services and biodigester management so that people can buy high-quality energy at a reasonable price (Xue et al., 2020). Conversion procedures should also be made simpler to cut costs associated with production. It is important to promote international collaboration and the exchange of best practises. Additionally, steps must be taken to improve the management of biogas plants and follow-up services (Mateescu & Dima, 2020). Without adequate education, this is not possible. For example, if inexpensive household digesters were the answer for villages, say villages in a developing nation, the main obstacle would be that the owners would not be familiar with how to run the digesters. It indicates that if the government offers support services and education, it can greatly aid in the efficient functioning of these digesters.
#### 2.8.2 Funding

For considerable changes, funding from non-governmental organizations and the government is required. Many years of central government funding through local investment programmes (LIP) and climate investment programmes (KLIMP) have allowed considerable advances in the use of biogas for energy generation and automobile fuel in countries like Sweden, Denmark, and Germany. In order to make Vester Hjermitslev in Denmark energy self-sufficient, the first plant was built there with almost all public funding: a 4 million DKK grant from the government and an 8.4 million DKK loan from the North Jutland County Council (Chrispim et al., 2021). Additionally, there are loan programmes with low long-term interest rates and investment subsidies for centralised biogas facilities that can cover up to 40% of expenditures. Another viable alternative to support biogas implementation in developing countries is carbon trading through Voluntary Emission Reduction (VER) managed by the World Bank (Güsewell et al., 2019; Karlsson, 2019).

#### **2.8.3 Policy**

Policies are required to encourage the production of biogas for the generation of electricity in developing countries. Federal, state and municipal governments must create cutting-edge regulations that attract investment and promote energy generation flexibility. Additionally, sound policy should be maintained; a change in government does not automatically result in a change in policy. In wealthy nations, policies such as feed-in tariffs, net metering, virtual net metering, and tax incentives have greatly aided the development of renewable energy sources (Tabatabaei et al., 2020). Tax exemptions or reductions on fossil fuels and rules requiring filling stations to offer at

least one renewable fuel are among the policies in Sweden that favour renewable transportation fuel (Kiselev & Magaril, 2022).

#### 2.8.4 Public Awareness Campaigns and Research and Development

People need to be aware of the value of properly managing the wastes they produce on a daily basis and the advantages of the biogas they can produce. Continuous counseling and teaching are needed on proper waste management, trash reduction, reuse for a longer period of time, recycling to create new products and recovery of waste energy in communities, schools, and market places. Governments should encourage research and development (R&D) by making sure that universities and businesses in emerging nations work closely together. The fact that imported technology does not align with regional needs and accessible infrastructure is a significant barrier to the development of biogas plants. R&D is therefore required to create new regional technologies or to alter those that already exist. Universities can carry out pilot projects to assess the viability of the technology and create the best conditions for a successful adoption. After that, companies can use the technology.

#### **2.9 Empirical Literature**

There is a need to turn to renewable resources to address the growing demand due to the energy crisis in Pakistan and the growing demand for energy for economic and industrial development (Jabeen et al., 2019). Concern is being raised about the rising demands for renewable energy technologies (RETs) and their production capacity as a result of conventional energy resources' detrimental effects on the environment's cleanliness, which pose a serious threat to the survival of all life on Earth (Awan & Khan, 2014). In a different study, Khalil & Zaidi (2014) outlined the

causes of Pakistan's current energy shortages. Their research, which also looked at the relationship between energy demand and supply in various contexts, came to the conclusion that solar energy, as opposed to wind energy, was better able to meet home and industrial energy needs. Energy shortages, according to some, are responsible for the switch from traditional energy to biogas generation technology (BGT) (Bekchanov et al., 2019). Another study on residential energy use looked at how BGTs are likely to handle a variety of challenges, including managing waste materials, producing electricity, and concerns about the environment and socioeconomic situations (Fetanat et al., 2019).

By selecting 200 families as a sample, Jan & Akram (2018) examined the readiness to use the BGT system in the rural Khyber Pakhtunkhwa province (KPK) of Pakistan. To this end, a probit regression model (hereinafter, PRM) was used to identify the variables that affect people's desire to accept BGTs. Their findings demonstrated that the primary elements that greatly influence the readiness to use BGT for energy usage are load shedding, awareness of the costs and benefits of using biogas energy, and the effect of load shedding on children's education. By conducting a survey in rural areas of the Tigray region and using logistic regression analysis, Kelebe et al. (2017) conducted a study in Ethiopia to take into account the variables that influence BGT. They came to the conclusion that several important criteria, including socioeconomic, demographic, female domination, age, education, collecting time, and distance, favoured the diffusion of biogas. Similarly, to this, Ahmad et al. (2017) conducted a cross-sectional study in Yogyakarta, Indonesia, selecting a sample of 351 homes, both adopters and non-adopters, and analysing the effects of BGT adoption on households.

According to their findings, the adoption of BGT was influenced by a decrease in the amount of firewood used and the amount of time required to collect wood. In a related study, Uhunamure et al. (2019) found that factors such as age, education, yield production, financial resources, cow ownership, gender, awareness, accessibility to technical specialists, house size, and income had a large impact on the adoption of BGT. For this, they used a logistic regression model to conduct the analysis on a sample of 200 families from the South African province of Limpopo. It has been reported that the use of BGT has decreased the costs associated with energy usage. As a result, there was a decrease in the cost of buying wood or charcoal, which led to financial savings. Along with time savings and reduced job requirements, it also had financial advantages (Khalil & Zaidi, 2014). Additionally, a study conducted in Nepal found that between 1992 and 2006, there were an additional 0.9 million employment openings in the BGT sector. Furthermore, by creating biogas plants, villages, builders and construction companies benefited financially (Roubk et al., 2018). Since they are the women who spend all day gathering wood for fuel in villages, they are prevented from participating in other productive activities (Kelebe et al., 2019).

Due to this, the use of BGT could reduce the time needed for fuel collection. Furthermore, Abbas et al. (2017) discovered that adopting BGT is advantageous in terms of both money and the environment in a study they carried out in the Faisalabad area using a sample of 160 homes using a stratified random sampling technique. Similarly, to this, Yasar et al. (2017) examined the effects of the use of household biogas plants on health, financial position, time savings, and energy savings. The use of biogas plants had a significant impact on energy and time savings, as women did not have to walk outdoors to collect wood for fuel, saving time and money, according to the findings based on data from various homes. The advent of liquid or gaseous renewable energy

fuels has reduced the use of solid biomass, reduced air pollution, and helped improve people's health in terms of environmental pollution and human health risk (International Renewable Energy Agency, 2017). It is thought to be helpful in reducing climate change because they can advance economic and social development and minimise harmful effects on human health and the environment.

For example, increasing household biomass can reduce air pollution and have a positive impact on lowering human health risks (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2011). Because electricity production was the largest contributor to air pollution and a host of environmental problems, which ultimately contributed to poor air quality, the adoption of RETs could result in a decrease in greenhouse gas emissions, which would have a favourable influence on health. Therefore, switching to renewable energy sources (like biomass) can improve air quality, which can benefit human health (reducing cardiac and respiratory ailments) as well as the ecosystem and increase production yield. The study was then conducted in Uganda, Kenya, and Tanzania, three nations in Africa. The objective of the study was to promote the acceptability of BGT in rural communities in sub-Saharan Africa. The data was obtained through surveys and interviews. Its main findings showed that the use of biogas improved yield and living standards, decreased deforestation, and lowered health consequences (Clemens et al., 2018). Last but not least, despite efforts made at all levels to promote the use of BGTs, including the provision of subsidies and the extension of the delivery infrastructure, BGTs continue to face obstacles and constraints in their expansion process (Jan et al., 2018).

Other issues, such as capital expenditures, educational attainment, capital grants, technological considerations, and gender, are prevalent barriers in China, Kenya, and Bangladesh to the adoption of biogas systems (Kardooni et al., 2018). The consumption of slurry, quality control and the use of foreign funds were taken into account in countries where most of the population relies on the use of wood and agricultural waste as fuel to cook food (Kardooni et al., 2018). In addition, Dendup (2019) claimed that education was a key element in promoting clean cooking fuels. In this regard, a unique survey was carried out in rural Bhutan and its findings showed that people were 39% more inclined to embrace clean cooking fuels if they had more information. Additionally, increasing the use of BGT depends on the education of women. For example, using BGTs to bake the traditional bread known as "Injera" in Ethiopia strongly encourages their adoption (Farooq & Kumar, 2013). BGTs are said to have numerous applications, including heating, cooking, and power generation. In this regard, a sample from Limpopo consisting of 72 adopters and 128 non-adopters has been taken (South Africa).

For this, a logistic regression model was used to examine the data. The findings showed that factors including household awareness, house size, proximity to a source of fuelwood, number of cattle, and house size are major factors that encourage acceptance and use of BGT (Uhunamure et al., 2019). Main-stream works mainly focused on identifying the drivers of technology adoption but neglected to take into account the crucial influencing factors (hereinafter CRIFs) of BGT utilisation (Zafar et al., 2018). To be more precise, no research has ever been found to investigate households' preference-based CRIFs of BGT utilisation (Rauf et al., 2015; Van Dael et al., 2017). It is unknown whether previous studies in this field have used the propensity score matching (hereinafter PSM) method to conduct analysis (Ali et al., 2013). Last but not least, prior research

neglected to take into account the generated benefits based on financial, health, environmental protection, and crop harvest, which may be what motivates households to utilize BGT (Iqbal et al., 2013). Therefore, the mainstream studies provided important gaps that the current study may fill.

This paper has made an effort to empirically evaluate the families' CRIFs of BGT utilization in light of the aforementioned research gaps. This study examined how CRIFs, which are based on family preferences as well as socioeconomic and infrastructure factors, affect how BGT is used at home in Pakistan. The information is gathered using a sample of 695 homes (users and non-users) from seventeen tehsils, which are the administrative subdivisions of the Punjab region of Pakistan. A PSM as well as PRM methodologies have been used for the analysis. The groundbreaking findings have extensive positive policy ramifications. The remainder of the study is organized as follows: The theoretical framework based on innovation adoption is explained in Section 2, the data collection and research technique are described in Section 3, the findings and discussions are based in Section 4, and the research is concluded and the policy implications are documented in Section 5.

#### **3. AIMS OF THE THESIS**

The main aim of the current study is to investigate the factors influencing household decisions on the adoption and use of biogas technologies and the implementation benefits in terms of the socioeconomic, environmental, health and climate issues in relation among households in rural areas of the Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana.

#### 3.1 Specific objectives

Specifically, the current study seeks:

- 1. Assess the level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas technology.
- To investigate whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology.
- 3. Assess the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure.

#### 3.2 Research questions

The current study seeks to answer the following questions:

1. What is the level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas technology?

- 2. What effect does influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have on the socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the major challengers hindering the adoption of the biogas technology?
- 3. What are the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, designing and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure?

#### 4. METHODS

This section contains research design, research purpose, population, sampling size and sampling technique, data collection, data collection sources, data analytical tools, reliability and validity of data, and ethics.

#### 4.1 Research design

The design of a study is an important factor in determining how data will be collected, measured and evaluated, thus directly impacting the results of the study. It is therefore imperative in piloting every effective research (Bryman & Lilley, 2009). Research design is seen as the structure, systematic plan or gum that embraces all the components in research together. It is the conceptual within which research is conducted by identifying the blueprint for collecting the right information, conducting measurement, and analysing the research data. In literature, traditionally, there are three key designs to research: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed method. Although the distinctions between the three are mostly blurred because the strategies are mixed and overlap (Creswell, 2009), there are still some variations between the research-guiding methods. The qualitative research is simply the techniques associated with gathering, analysing and presenting narrative information (Tashakkori and Teddlie, 2009). Used primarily to explore largely subjective aspects of phenomena like attitudes, beliefs, and opinions, qualitative research aims at understanding, exploring insights, and describing social occurrences.

Quantitative research, another popular approach to research, offers researchers a method of testing objective theories by examining the relationships among variables by dealing with numeric data that may be organized into various data types, quantitative research places emphasis on objective measurements rather than subjective, and describes and tests relationships through quantifiable information gleaned from the data (Hair et al., 2009). Quantitative designs are often limiting to respondents, as closed-ended questions are regularly utilised to gain information, preventing the acquisition of certain valuable insights. Mixed-method research, a third option for the design of studies, can be considered an amalgamation of the former two methods. Therefore, it combines the strengths of both qualitative and quantitative research. Bryman (2006) explains that using a mixed method for the design of a study offers several advantages including: corroboration of findings from two independent sources of data; aiding interpretation of one source of data using data from another; the ability to study different aspects of a phenomenon simultaneously; and, filling in gaps in knowledge using data from another source. Therefore, the research design for the current study was quantitative, as many previous studies in the field have been (Ibrahim et al., 2014; Geter Sr, 2010; Willis et al., 2020).

#### 4.2 Research purpose

Research has a key objective that it seeks to accomplish, and the literature agrees that research may attempt to explore a new or relatively unsearched phenomenon, to simply explain an existing situation, or to explain an existing phenomenon (Neuman, 2011). Exploratory research has been defined as 'research intended to develop initial ideas or insights and to provide direction for any further research needed' (Hair, Bush, and Ortinau, 2006). An explanatory study goes beyond simply narrating what already is evident, explanatory studies go a step further to determine causes and reasons. It asks "Why?" and "How?" Hence, to tease out underlying factors that may not be immediately obvious in exploratory and descriptive studies. Explanatory studies attempt to explain observed causal relationships between variables. Descriptive research design is statistical research

that describes the phenomena as they exist. It is used to identify and obtain information about the characteristics of a certain problem. Descriptive research was implored for the research work which according to Kothari (2004) is concerned with recounting the features of a unique person or a group. The descriptive method of research is beneficial to researchers due to its litheness.

The descriptive method of research is made up of three (3) types namely; observational, correlational, and survey. To achieve the objective of this study, explanatory and descriptive research methods were deemed feasible. The study therefore adopted a quantitative research method, with surveys using questionnaires to obtain the opinions of the respondents to formulate the research findings.

#### 4.3 Population

Ghana is a western African country with an economy orientated toward agriculture that contributes greatly to its gross domestic product and small-scale domestic trading (Raheem et al., 2021). It shares a common border with the Republic of Togo in the east, Burkina Faso in the north, the Ivory Coast in the west and the Atlantic Ocean in the south (Chirawurah et al., 2022). The Ghana population was estimated to be 31 (31) million in 2021 on Monday 3 May 2021, based on the elaboration of the World metre of the latest United Nations data (Kortei et al., 2021). The total land area is 227,540 km2 (87,854 sq. miles). The population of 56.7 % of people live in urban areas (17,625,567 people in 2020). The country is divided into six agroecological zones because of the climate, reflected by natural vegetation, and influenced by soils. These agroecological zones from north to south are the Sudan Savannah Zone, Guinea Savannah Zone, Transition Zone, Semideciduous Forest Zone, Rain Forest Zone, and the Coastal Savannah Zone. The research

would focus on rural households in the offinso North (Ashanti region) in Ghana, and stakeholders in government and non-government institutions.

Offinso North District is one of the 27 Administrative Districts of Ashanti Region Created in the later part of 2007; it is located in the extreme NorthWestern part of the Region. The district lies within longitude 1°45w and 1°65w. Farming is the predominant Occupation of the people in the district. The sector represents more than 70% of the economically active labour force (Nkansah, Serwaa, Adarkwah et al., 2020; Nkansah, Serwaa, Osei-Boakye et al., 2022; Anyimah et al., 2021). However, about 60% of all engage outside the Agricultural sector still practise Agriculture as a subsidiary activity. The current total farming population is around 30,000 comprising 15,030 male and 14,970 females. The Youth in agriculture (people between the ages of 15-34 years) constitute 30% of the farming population is a great potential for sustainable Agricultural production. Adoption is described as "initial technology acquisition and use for less than one year from the acquisition" by Puzzolo et al. in 2016. The dependent dummy variable in this study was adoption. For families that had a working biogas technology, a value of "1" was given, and for those who hadn't, a value of "0."

The sampling frames consisted of houses that had purchased biogas equipment a year earlier. To get precise information regarding the problem, biogas adopters with at least a year's worth of biogas installations were chosen. In addition, households were expected to be more experienced and knowledgeable about the advantages and disadvantages of technology. This was done to evaluate the parameters that influence households' decisions to adopt biogas technology in the

research location. Households that had functional biogas plants were considered adopters, whilst those without such plants were considered non-adopters.

#### 4.4 Sampling size and sampling technique

A sample is often made use of when a census of the entire population is not possible (Cooper & Schindler, 2000). A sample size of a survey most typically refers to the number of units that were chosen from which data were gathered (Lavrakas, 1998). The sample size was 23 adopters of the household and who were willing to respond to the questionnaire in the Offinso North District. A sampling technique is the name or other identification of the specific process by which the entities of the sample have been selected. Hair et al. (2006) reveal that a sample size selected by a researcher has an influence on the statistical tests that can be generated and the extent to which generalisation can be made. It is therefore important for the researcher to apply the right sampling technique in order make the best of selection of sample for the study. Malhotra and Singh (2006) identified two main sampling techniques, thus probability and non-probability. Non-probability sampling method was used to select participants. This is a type of sampling method in which the sample units are selected based on personal judgement or convenience.

Non-probability sampling was used in the choice of respondents regardless of their cumulative number of households. The researchers thus employed a convenient sampling technique under the non-probability sampling method. This technique was appropriate for this study, because it was less time consuming and cheaper, and the researcher also provided the opportunity of selecting experts to share their open views on the questions posed.

#### 4.5 Data collection

Data collection is defined as a systematic process for gathering and measuring information on specific research variables which helps a researcher to address research questions, assess hypotheses and analyse data (Mkandawire, 2019). A questionnaire is a series of questions that are asked of individuals to obtain statistically useful information on a given topic. They are a valuable method of collecting a wide range of information from a large number of individuals, often referred to as respondents. Adequate questionnaire construction is critical to the success of a survey. To answer the questions of the study, structured questionnaires were circulated to households within the Offinso North District. To establish relations with the respondents, the researcher self-administered the questionnaires and in return encouraged them. The questionnaire was handled interactively and local language was used where possible, to provide an interpretation of appropriate answers. The first part of the questionnaire captured the demographic characteristics of the respondents including their age range, gender, and educational level. The second section consists of items that measure the main constructs of the study.

#### 4.6 Data collection sources

Data may be collected from two main sources for a study (Saunders et al., 2009). These are known as primary and secondary sources of data and may be used either exclusively or in conjunction to gain information for the research.

#### 4.6.1 Primary data

Primary data has been described by scholars as "original data" collected directly from first-hand sources and gathered specifically for the purposes of answering the research question at hand.

Therefore, it is usually collected through a data collection instrument specified and designed by the researcher in accordance with the research objectives and questions that the study seeks to address. The current study was based on primary data, which was gathered using a questionnaire as a data collection instrument.

#### 4.6.2 Secondary source

Secondary data, on the other hand, comprises information that has already been collected for another purpose, but which is still relevant for the study. Such data are often used to provide additional information on the research. In this study, secondary data helped to review the literature and support the arguments for the findings made.

#### 4.7 Data analytical tools

The data collected were subjected to analysis and examinations that helped the researcher to come to the right conclusions and made the right recommendations. In this research, the analysis of the data collected was based on primary quantitative techniques. These methods included descriptive methods and statistics to present the mean demographics of the respondents and standard deviation. The collected data has been edited for error detection and erasure. This process was done at the same time as data collection in the field. Then it was coded according to categorisation for entry into computers for data analyses. To examine the level of knowledge and perception of households on the use of biogas technology, to investigate whether the influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on the socio-economic, health, environment, and climate aspects and identify the major challengers hindering the adoption of the biogas technology, and to assess the approaches used by the government and

NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure, a statistical method was adopted.

After the data was collected, it was coded and keyed in statistical package for social sciences (SPSS v.26). The data was cleaned to ensure that it was correct. Scale-based variables were checked to ensure internal consistency, after which scores were aggregated to determine the mean score for each respondent. Descriptive statistical techniques were used for the data analysis. Hair et al., (2016) proffered that descriptive statistics makes it possible to present results numerically and graphically presenting information that gives an overall picture of the data collected. The researcher will use SPSS v.26. SPSS is a software that can help analyses focusing on descriptive statistics to be done. This ensures that mean and standard deviation of the items measuring the objectives of this study are obtained. Respondents' agreement to the items will also be analyzed to determine the results of this study.

#### 4.8 Reliability and validity of data

#### 4.8.1 Reliability

This refers to the consistency or dependability of a measurement technique (Shao et al., 2019). More specifically, reliability is concerned with the consistency or stability of the score obtained from a measure or assessment technique over time and across settings or conditions (Sürücü & MASLAKÇI, 2020). If the measurement is reliable, then there is a less chance that the obtained score is due to random factors and measurement error. Reliability in its simplest form is about the relationship between separately generated sets of scores, such as the scores on two different evaluation instruments. Reliability, therefore, is generally expressed as a coefficient of correlation, a statistical examination that tells us about the relationship between two sets of values or variables. There is sufficient reliability when the correlation coefficient is 0.80 or higher.

#### 4.8.2 Validity

According to Mellinger and Hanson, (2020), validity means to what degree an instrument tests what is to be measured. Validity has a multitude of dimensions and approaches to measurement. Two statistical analyses will be conducted to verify the integrity of the questionnaire. Initial check is Criterion-related validity test (Pearson test) which measures in one field and the entire field the correlation coefficient between each paragraph. The second analysis is structure validity test (Pearson test) that evaluated the validity of the questionnaire framework by assessing the validity of what area and the whole questionnaire. The correlation coefficient measures the same degree of correlation between all the fields in the questionnaire (Hayashi et al., 2019). The researcher ensured validity by using questionnaires from already existing questionnaires. This is because the questionnaires have been used for more than once.

#### 4.9 Ethics

Ethics form the major aspects of research and important consideration in every good research and this particular study has no exception. Ethics can be seen as standards or norms of conduct that distinguishes right from wrong. This also helps to decide which practises are acceptable or undesirable. According to Centre for Innovation and Research in Teaching (CIRT), ethical consideration in research has two very important elements. Originally, 'ethical principles' prohibit evidence from being created or manufactured.' thereby promoting the quest for information and truthfulness which is the prime objective of every research. Second, it is also "essential to cooperation" as it represents an environment of researchers' esteem, transparency, and shared respect. This is also imperative when it comes to issues concerning the exchange of information, shared authorship, trademark, secrecy and other matters. Additionally, researchers must also follow the ethical guidelines of public confidence, support, and faith. The general public wants to have confidence and make sure that researchers follow the applicable criteria on issues such as human rights, animal protection, law enforcement, conflict of interest, peace, quality of health ', etc.

The research study has also addressed the following ethical issues with regards to the survey: First, the right of the respondents to privacy is important in conducting any research because the information provided by the respondents must be kept private, especially their individual identities. This is necessary to remember that the identities of the respondents will be kept hidden at all times, unless they can make their identification known. The study trumpeted this issue of the respondents 'rights to privacy and has done everything possible to protect the rights of the respondents who actually participated in data collection processes. For this reason, the questionnaires avoided any possible ways to reveal the identities of the respondents. Furthermore, the use of deception according to the researcher is unethical and should not be entertained. It is ethically wrong for any researcher to convey false information to respondents just to get their views or get them to answer the research questions. The researcher did not consider the use of deception during the data collection and analysis processes. The research study was aware of this particular ethical issue and at nowhere has the researcher indulged in any act of deception or falsification of data.

The data collected and the analysis conducted reflect the response and opinions gathered from the respondents at the research site. Furthermore, respondents were informed before distributing the survey questionnaires to them. The researcher actually explained the motive of the research and the important things that the respondents supposed to know. The researcher also sent a formal letter to all adopters in the hosuehold to request permission to collect data, which was granted by the organisation. Furthermore, as part of the measures, the researcher told the respondents not to sign their names to maintain confidentiality, and their responses for the sample will forever remain secret. In addition to maintaining secrecy, the researcher also assured the respondents that nobody outside the study will ever see the study completed. The researcher will gather and analyse surveys and submit the findings. All the information regarding the survey will be kept in the best possible confidential level. A confidentiality letter between the company and the researcher was signed in a timely manner to give more confidence to the company with respect to the survey conducted by the researcher. Last but not least, the researcher believed that the respondents were honest in their responses to the survey and that no amount of inducement was perpetuated on the respondents.

The respondents knew what they were answering regarding the questionnaires and provided answers that were honest to the best of their knowledge. The researcher also during the data collection process was frank and honest in his approach to the respondents. No amount of inducement was offered to the respondents. Finally, the researcher exhibited a high level of objectivity in reporting and analysing the research data. Data analysis was performed based on true accounts of events that occurred during the research survey and data collection processes. The responses provided by the respondents were properly captured and reported according to the results obtained from the captured data.

#### 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 5.1 Demographic data of respondents

Figure 1 shows that 1 household adopter was below 20 years of age, 11 household adopters were 20-29 years of age, 7 household adopters were 30-39 years of age, 3 household adopters were 40-49 years of age, and 1 household adopter was 50-59 years of age. Household adopters ranged from 20-59 years of age.



Figure 1 Age of household adopters

Figure 2 shows that 17 household adopters were males whereas 6 household adopters were females. Both gender were included.





#### **5.2 Descriptive statistics**

#### 5.2.1 The level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas

#### technology

Table 1 shows that the price of biogas technology installation is greater had a higher mean factor of 4.52 among the other items. This means that the price of biogas technology installation is greater. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.994, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Training linked to biogas technology is difficult to get access to had the second mean factor of 4.17 among the other items. This means that training linked to biogas technology is difficult to get access to. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.029, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The advantages of biogas energy are not widely known had the third mean factor of 3.87 among the other items. This means that the advantages of biogas energy are not widely

known. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.140, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The family is reluctant to the use of biogas technology had the fourth mean factor of 3.70 among the other items. This means that the family is reluctant to the use of biogas technology. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.222, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

The ability to obtain credit is challenging had the fifth mean factor of 3.48 among the other items. This means that the ability to obtain credit is challenging. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.238, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash had the sixth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.229, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Having a sufficient and dependable water source is challenging had the sixth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that having a sufficient and dependable water source is challenging. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.402, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Water supplies are insufficient and unreliable. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.335, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Crop yields are directly increased by biogas had the ninth mean factor of 3.26 among the other items. This means that crop yields are directly increased by biogas. The average score's divergence

from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.356, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. There are not many livestock had the last mean factor of 3.09 among the other items. This means that there are not many livestock. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.411, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

		Std.
	Mean	Deviation
The price of biogas technology installation is greater	4.52	.994
Training linked to biogas technology is difficult to get access to	4.17	1.029
The advantages of biogas energy are not widely known	3.87	1.140
The family is reluctant to the use of biogas technology	3.70	1.222
The ability to obtain credit is challenging	3.48	1.238
Time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash	3.35	1.229
Having a sufficient and dependable water source is challenging	3.35	1.402
Water supplies are insufficient and unreliable	3.35	1.335
Crop yields are directly increased by biogas	3.26	1.356
There are not many livestock	3.09	1.411

#### Table 1 Descriptive Statistics for the level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas technology

5.2.2 Whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology

Table 2 shows that political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies are lacking had a higher mean factor of 4.61 among the other items. This means that political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies are lacking. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.583, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Lack of knowledge and minimal communication with potential adopters had second mean factor of 4.57 among the other items. This means that lack of knowledge and minimal

communication with potential adopters. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.590, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Lack of understanding among the populace as a whole had third mean factor of 4.52 among the other items. This means that lack of understanding among the populace as a whole among the populace as a whole. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.790, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Lack of consumer interest and public participation had fourth mean factor of 4.48 among the other items. This means that lack of consumer interest and public participation. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.665, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates had fourth mean factor of 4.48 among the other items. This means that adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.665, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Adoption is still going slowly had sixth mean factor of 4.35 among the other items. This means that adoption is still going slowly. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.982, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas had sixth mean factor of 4.35 among the other items. This means that lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.775, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays had eighth mean factor of 4.17 among the other items. This means that installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.984, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. There are not enough resources had eighth mean factor of 4.17 among the other items. This means that there are not enough resources. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.114, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. There is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized had tenth mean factor of 4.13 among the other items. This means that there is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.014, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

The expensive management and upkeep of biogas plants had tenth mean factor of 4.13 among the other items. This means that the expensive management and upkeep of biogas plants. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.757, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Travel expenses and erratic supplies had twelfth mean factor of 4.04 among the other items. This means that travel expenses and erratic supplies. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.767, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. There are not enough subsidies had thirteenth mean factor of 3.91 among the other items. This means that there are not enough subsidies. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.164, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The infrastructure is subpar had fourteenth mean factor of 3.87 among

the other items. This means that the infrastructure is subpar. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.869, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Biogas digesters require a lot of water resources had fifteenth mean factor of 3.74 among the other items. This means that biogas digesters require a lot of water resources. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.915, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Projects involving biogas fail because they conflict with local beliefs had sixteenth mean factor of 3.48 among the other items. This means that projects involving biogas fail because they conflict with local beliefs. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.123, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels had seventeenth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels had seventeenth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels had seventeenth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels had seventeenth mean factor of 3.35 among the other items. This means that higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels is a challenge hindering the adoption of biogas technology. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.265, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Concerns about odor had eighteenth mean factor of 3.17 among the other items. This means that concerns about odor is a challenge hindering the adoption of biogas technology. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.642, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Noise toxicity had the last mean factor of 2.87 among the other items. This means that noise toxicity is a challenge hindering the adoption of biogas technology. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.456, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Table 2 Descriptive Statistics for whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology

		Std.
	Mean	Deviation
Political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies	4.61	.583
are lacking		
Lack of knowledge and minimal communication with potential adopters	4.57	.590
Lack of understanding among the populace as a whole	4.52	.790
Lack of consumer interest and public participation	4.48	.665
Adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates	4.48	.665
Adoption is still going slowly	4.35	.982
Lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector	4.35	.775
collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas		
Installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays	4.17	.984
There are not enough resources	4.17	1.114
There is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove	4.13	1.014
that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized		
The expensive management and upkeep of biogas plants	4.13	.757
Travel expenses and erratic supplies	4.04	.767
There are not enough subsidies	3.91	1.164
The infrastructure is subpar	3.87	.869
Biogas digesters require a lot of water resources	3.74	.915
Projects involving biogas fail because they conflict with local beliefs	3.48	1.123
Higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels	3.35	1.265
Concerns about odor	3.17	1.642
Noise toxicity	2.87	1.456

# **5.2.3** The approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure Table 3 shows that for the best biogas production, use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio had a

higher mean factor of 4.35 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the

government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is for the best biogas production, household adopters must use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.885, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator because they are challenging to remove had a higher mean factor of 4.35 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator because they are challenging to remove. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.885, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. To make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook had third mean factor of 4.30 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.926, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

The central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would need to be opened for an inspection had fourth mean factor of 4.26 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would need to be opened for an inspection. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.054, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The operator should monitor any temperature changes that occur during the anaerobic digestion process had fifth mean factor of 4.22 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the operator should monitor any temperature changes that occur during the anaerobic digestion process. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.951, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature changes, and uneven supply if there is foam had sixth mean factor of 4.17 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature changes, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature changes, and uneven supply if there is foam. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.984, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Utilize a premium brick stacking standard when building had seventh mean factor of 4.13 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to utilize a premium brick stacking standard when building. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.014, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. Ensure that the sodium concentration stays between 3500 and 5500 parts per million, according to the operator (ppm) had eighth mean factor of 4.09 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to ensure that the sodium concentration stays between 3500 and 5500 parts per million, according to the operator (ppm). The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.848, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. The operator must ensure that the soluble heavy metal content is kept to less than 0.5 mg/L had ninth mean factor of 4.04 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is, the operator must ensure that the soluble heavy metal content is kept to less than 0.5 mg/L. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.928, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

Verify the flame's color at the waste gas burner had tenth mean factor of 3.96 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to verify the flame's color at the waste gas burner. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.928, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. To prevent harm to the biodigester system, volatile fatty acid concentrations should be fewer than 2000 parts per million (ppm) had eleventh mean factor of 3.91 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to prevent harm to the biodigester system, volatile fatty acid concentrations should be fewer than 2000 parts per million (ppm). The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 0.848, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed. To prevent digestion failure

in the biogas plant, the operator should keep the ammonia content below 2000 ppm, or between 50 and 200 mg/L had the last mean factor of 3.87 among the other items. This means that an approach used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure is to prevent digestion failure in the biogas plant, the operator should keep the ammonia content below 2000 ppm, or between 50 and 200 mg/L. The average score's divergence from the mean, or standard deviation, was 1.140, which reflects how broadly the distribution was dispersed.

### Table 3 Descriptive Statistics the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure

		Std.
	Mean	Deviation
For the best biogas production, use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio	4.35	.885
Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator	4.35	.885
because they are challenging to remove		
To make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right	4.30	.926
amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook		
The central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would need to	4.26	1.054
be opened for an inspection		
The operator should monitor any temperature changes that occur during	4.22	.951
the anaerobic digestion process		
The operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature	4.17	.984
changes, and uneven supply if there is foam		
Utilize a premium brick stacking standard when building	4.13	1.014
Ensure that the sodium concentration stays between 3500 and 5500 parts	4.09	.848
per million, according to the operator (ppm)		
The operator must ensure that the soluble heavy metal content is kept to	4.04	.928
less than 0.5 mg/L		
Verify the flame's color at the waste gas burner	3.96	.928
To prevent harm to the biodigester system, volatile fatty acid	3.91	.848
concentrations should be fewer than 2000 parts per million (ppm)		

To prevent digestion failure in the biogas plant, the operator should keep	3.87	1.140
the ammonia content below 2000 ppm, or between 50 and 200 mg/L		

#### **5.3 Discussion of findings**

#### 5.3.1 The level of knowledge and perception of households about the use of biogas

#### technology

Approximately 35 billion m<sup>3</sup> of equivalent methane - or 59 billion m<sup>3</sup> of biogas - are produced globally each year, with the European Union (EU) contributing approximately half of that amount (Norouzi & Dutta, 2022). As a result, biogas production in developing nations has been inadequate and has made little progress. In terms of biogas production, developing nations lag behind their developed counterparts. Due to varying socioeconomic situations, technological advancements, degrees of development, and endowments of natural resources, the deployment of biogas in developing countries differs substantially between nations (Zupančič et al., 2022). China has the most household biogas plants in the world (Igliski et al., 2020), and small-scale domestic biogas plants are widely implemented in these countries (Nevzorova, 2020). However, by building medium- and large-scale biogas facilities, most emerging nations are increasing their pace of growth to grow their biogas production. Findings of this study revealed that household adopters strongly agreed that the price of biogas technology installation is greater, training linked to biogas technology is difficult to get access to and the advantages of biogas energy are not widely known.

Findings also showed that the family is reluctant to the use of biogas technology, the ability to obtain credit is challenging, and time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash. Moreover, having a sufficient and dependable water source is challenging, water supplies are insufficient and unreliable, crop yields are directly increased by biogas, and there are not many

livestock. An issue to consider is water availability, as this puts irrigation water and drinking water in competition (SABIA 2016). However, several studies have investigated the accessibility of grey water (Nape et al. 2019). Furthermore, according to Von Bormann and Gulati (2014), the amount of water required to produce power is expected to increase. Water allocation trade-offs between energy and agriculture will be difficult in this regard. The African Biogas Partnership Programme brought biogas technology to the continent. In Burundi, Botswana, Burkina Faso, Cote d'Ivoire, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guinea, Lesotho, Namibia, Nigeria, Rwanda, Zimbabwe, South Africa and Uganda, several biogas digesters have been installed (Clemens et al., 2018).

According to estimates, Nigeria, the most populous nation in Africa, has a biogas potential of 6.8 million cubic metres per day from animal manure and 913,440 tons of methane from MSW, which is equal to 482 MW of electricity [44]. By 2030, Nigeria is expected to produce 171 TJ of biogas energy (Yimen et al., 2018). Despite the promise of biogas in African nations and the viability of the technology having been demonstrated by various programmes, the technology is not widely used and large-scale applications have not been successfully implemented (Kemausuor et al., 2018; Dumont et al., 2021).

## 5.3.2 Whether factors influencing household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology have any effect on socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the main challengers hindering the adoption of biogas technology

Findings revealed that political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies are lacking, there is lack of knowledge and minimal communication with potential adopters, there is lack of understanding among the populace as a whole, and there is lack of consumer interest and public participation. Moreover, adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates, adoption is still going slowly, lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas, installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays, there are not enough resources, and there is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized. Although some developing nations, such as China, India, and Nepal, have successfully adopted biogas (see Bond and Templeton 2011), this has not been the case in many other nations where the digesters are not working. This is because there aren't enough maintenance resources available, and the facilities that already exist aren't getting fixed. South Africa has also experienced this.

For example, SABIA (2016) noted that the energy sector faces serious challenges due to a lack of qualified local labour and skilled manpower, as the system frequently relies on foreign nationals from wealthy countries to run the facilities. Furthermore, there is expensive management and upkeep of biogas plants, there is travel expenses and erratic supplies, there are not enough subsidies, the infrastructure is subpar, biogas digesters require a lot of water resources, and projects involving biogas fail because they conflict with local beliefs. Lastly, higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels, concerns about odor, and noise toxicity are challenges hindering the adoption of biogas technology. In poor countries, it might be challenging to locate a grid connected to a large-scale biogas programme. Furthermore, the inability of rural farmers to invest in biogas facilities is a barrier to their progress (Wargert 2009). Furthermore, underground methane digesters that are installed are inundated during the rainy season, according to Wargert (2009), which requires a significant amount of maintenance effort and expense.

This is related to the construction of methane digesters using unsuitable forms and materials (Mutungwazi, Mukumba and Makaka 2018). According to Taele, Gopinathan, and Mokhutsoane (2007), the seasonal movement of livestock in rural regions makes it challenging to collect enough animal waste to feed biogas digesters and causes a sizable interruption in generation capacity. A large-scale farming system makes it challenging to gather animal faeces, according to Wargert (2009). According to Nape et al. (2019), due to the cold winter months, the methane digesters built in rural communities do not produce enough biogas.

### 5.3.3 The approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure Findings revealed that the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure are for the best biogas production, household adopters must use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio; Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator because they are challenging to remove; to make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook; the central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would need to be opened for an inspection; the operator should monitor any temperature changes that occur during the anaerobic digestion process; the operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature changes, and uneven supply if there is foam; utilize a premium brick stacking standard when building; ensure that the sodium concentration stays between 3500 and 5500 parts per million, according to the operator (ppm); the operator must ensure that the soluble heavy metal content is kept to less than 0.5 mg/L; verify the flame's color at the waste gas burner; to prevent harm to the biodigester system; volatile fatty acid concentrations
should be fewer than 2000 parts per million (ppm); and to prevent digestion failure in the biogas plant, the operator should keep the ammonia content below 2000 ppm, or between 50 and 200 mg/L.

Developing nations must create their own, more affordable digestion systems with simple installation and operation methods. It is important to streamline technical services and biodigester management so that people can buy high-quality energy at a reasonable price (Xue et al., 2020). Conversion procedures should also be made simpler to cut costs associated with production. It is important to promote international collaboration and the exchange of best practises. Additionally, steps must be taken to improve the management of biogas plants and follow-up services (Mateescu & Dima, 2020). Without adequate education, this is not possible. For considerable changes, funding from non-governmental organizations and the government is required. Many years of central government funding through local investment programmes (LIP) and climate investment programmes (KLIMP) have allowed considerable advances in the use of biogas for energy generation and automobile fuel in countries like Sweden, Denmark, and Germany.

In order to make Vester Hjermitslev in Denmark energy self-sufficient, the first plant was built there with almost all public funding: a 4 million DKK grant from the government and an 8.4 million DKK loan from the North Jutland County Council (Chrispim et al., 2021). Additionally, there are loan programmes with low long-term interest rates and investment subsidies for centralised biogas facilities that can cover up to 40% of expenditures. Another viable alternative to support biogas implementation in developing countries is carbon trading through Voluntary Emission Reduction (VER) managed by the World Bank (Güsewell et al., 2019; Karlsson, 2019). Policies are required to encourage the production of biogas for the generation of electricity in developing countries. In wealthy nations, policies such as feed-in tariffs, net metering, virtual net metering, and tax incentives have greatly aided the development of renewable energy sources (Tabatabaei et al., 2020). Tax exemptions or reductions on fossil fuels and rules requiring filling stations to offer at least one renewable fuel are among the policies in Sweden that favour renewable transportation fuel (Kiselev & Magaril, 2022).

## 6. CONCLUSIONS

The main aim of the current study was to investigate the factors influencing household decisions on the adoption and use of biogas technologies and the implementation benefits in terms of the socio-economic, environmental, health and climate issues in relation among households in rural areas of the Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana. The research design for the current study was quantitative with surveys using questionnaires to obtain the opinions of the respondents to formulate the research findings. To achieve the objective of this study, explanatory and descriptive research methods were employed. The research focused on rural households in the offinso North (Ashanti region) in Ghana, and stakeholders in government and non-government institutions. The sample size was determined based on the number of adopters of the household and who were willing to respond to the questionnaire in the Offinso North District. Convenient sampling technique was employed. It was found that household adopters strongly agreed that the price of biogas technology installation is greater, training related to biogas technology is difficult to access, and the advantages of biogas energy are not widely known.

The findings also showed that the family is reluctant to use biogas technology, the ability to obtain credit is challenging, and the time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash. Furthermore, having a reliable and sufficient water source is challenging, water supplies are insufficient and unreliable, crop yields are directly increased by biogas, and there are few livestock. It was also found that political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas technologies are lacking, there is lack of knowledge and minimal communication with potential adopters, there is lack of understanding among the populace as a whole, there is lack of consumer interest and public participation, adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates, adoption is still

going slowly, lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas, installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays, there are not enough resources, and there is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized.

Lastly, it was found that for the best biogas production, household adopters must use feedstocks with the right C/N ratio, Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the operator because they are challenging to remove, and to make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook are some approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, design, and implementation of biogas technology in order to establish the causes of the system failure.

## **6.1 Recommendation**

People need to be aware of the value of properly managing the wastes they produce on a daily basis and the advantages of the biogas they can produce. Continuous counseling and teaching are needed on proper waste management, trash reduction, reuse for a longer period of time, recycling to create new products and recovery of waste energy in communities, schools, and market places. Governments should encourage research and development (R&D) by making sure that universities and businesses in emerging nations work closely together. The fact that imported technology does not align with regional needs and accessible infrastructure is a significant barrier to the development of biogas plants. R&D is therefore required to create new regional technologies or to alter those that already exist. Universities can carry out pilot projects to assess the viability of the

technology and create the best conditions for a successful adoption. After that, companies can use the technology.

## 7. REFERENCE

- Abbas, T. Ali, G. Adil, S.A. Bashir, M.K. & Kamran, M.A. (2017). Economic analysis of biogas adoption technology by rural farmers: The case of Faisalabad district in Pakistan, Renew. Energy. 107 431–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.01.060.
- Abbas, T. Ali, G. Adil, S.A. Bashir, M.K. & Kamran, M.A. (2017). Economic analysis of biogas adoption technology by rural farmers: The case of Faisalabad district in Pakistan, Renew. Energy. 107 431–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.01.060</u>.
- Afridi, Z. U. R., & Qammar, N. W. (2020). Technical challenges and optimization of biogas plants. *ChemBioEng Reviews*, 7(4), 119-129.
- Afridi, Z. U. R., & Qammar, N. W. (2020). Technical challenges and optimization of biogas plants. *ChemBioEng Reviews*, 7(4), 119-129.
- Ahiataku-Togobo, W. & Owusu-Obeng, P. Y. (2016). Biogas Technology-What Works for
  Ghana? http://energycom.gov.gh/files/ Biogas%20%20What%20works%20for%20Ghana.pdf.
- Ahiataku-Togobo, W. & Owusu-Obeng, P. Y. (2016). Biogas Technology-What Works for
  Ghana? http://energycom.gov.gh/files/ Biogas%20%20What%20works%20for%20Ghana.pdf.
- Ahmad Romadhoni Surya Putra, R. Liu, Z. & Lund, M. (2017). The impact of biogas technology adoption for farm households – Empirical evidence from mixed crop and livestock farming systems in Indonesia, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 74 1371–1378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.164.
- Ahmad Romadhoni Surya Putra, R. Liu, Z. & Lund, M. (2017). The impact of biogas technology adoption for farm households Empirical evidence from mixed crop and livestock farming

systems in Indonesia, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 74 1371–1378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.164.

- Ajieh, M. U., Ogbomida, T. E., Onochie, U. P., Akingba, O., Kubeyinje, B. F., Orerome, O. R., & Ogbonmwan, S. M. (2020). Design and construction of fixed dome digester for biogas production using cow dung and water hyacinth. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 14(1), 15-25.
- Ajieh, M. U., Ogbomida, T. E., Onochie, U. P., Akingba, O., Kubeyinje, B. F., Orerome, O. R., & Ogbonmwan, S. M. (2020). Design and construction of fixed dome digester for biogas production using cow dung and water hyacinth. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 14(1), 15-25.
- Ali, S. Zahra, N. Nasreen, Z. & Usman, S. (2013). Impact of Biogas Technology in the Development of Rural Population Introduction Definition of biogas, J. Anal. Environ. Chem. 14; 65–74.
- Ali, S. Zahra, N. Nasreen, Z. & Usman, S. (2013). Impact of Biogas Technology in the Development of Rural Population Introduction Definition of biogas, J. Anal. Environ. Chem. 14; 65–74.
- Aliyu, A. K., B. Modu, and C. W. Tan. 2017. "A Review of Renewable Energy Development in Africa: A Focus in South Africa, Egypt and Nigeria." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 81 (2): 2502–2518.
- Aliyu, A. K., B. Modu, and C. W. Tan. 2017. "A Review of Renewable Energy Development in Africa: A Focus in South Africa, Egypt and Nigeria." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 81 (2): 2502–2518.

- Amigun B, Musango KJ, & Stafforda W. (2011). Biofuels and sustainability in Africa. Renew Sustain Energy Rev; 15(2):1360–72.
- Amigun B, Musango KJ, & Stafforda W. (2011). Biofuels and sustainability in Africa. Renew Sustain Energy Rev; 15(2):1360–72.
- Amigun B, Sigamoney R, & von Blottnitz H. (2008). Commercialization of biofuel industry in Africa: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2008; (12):690–711.
- Amigun B, Sigamoney R, & von Blottnitz H. (2008). Commercialization of biofuel industry in Africa: a review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 2008; (12):690–711.
- Amigun, B. & Blottnitz, v. H. (2010). Capacity-cost and location-cost analyses for biogas plants
   in Africa. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 55, 63–73.
   http://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2010.07.004
- Amigun, B. & Blottnitz, v. H. (2010). Capacity-cost and location-cost analyses for biogas plants in Africa. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 55, 63–73. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2010.07.004
- Angelidaki, I., Treu, L., Tsapekos, P., Luo, G., Campanaro, S., Wenzel, H., & Kougias, P. G. (2018). Biogas upgrading and utilization: Current status and perspectives. *Biotechnology advances*, 36(2), 452-466.
- Angelidaki, I., Treu, L., Tsapekos, P., Luo, G., Campanaro, S., Wenzel, H., & Kougias, P. G. (2018). Biogas upgrading and utilization: Current status and perspectives. *Biotechnology advances*, 36(2), 452-466.
- Anwar, M. N., Shabbir, M., Saif, H., Khan, S. H., Tahir, E., Tahir, A., ... & Nizami, A. S. (2021).
   Microbial and Biotechnological Advancement in Biogas Production. In *Environmental Microbiology and Biotechnology* (pp. 31-64). Springer, Singapore.

- Anwar, M. N., Shabbir, M., Saif, H., Khan, S. H., Tahir, E., Tahir, A., ... & Nizami, A. S. (2021).
   Microbial and Biotechnological Advancement in Biogas Production. In *Environmental Microbiology and Biotechnology* (pp. 31-64). Springer, Singapore.
- Anyimah, F. O., Jnr, E. M. O., & Nyamekye, C. (2021). Detection of stress areas in cocoa farms using GIS and remote sensing: A case study of Offinso Municipal & Offinso North district, Ghana. *Environmental Challenges*, 4, 100087.
- Anyimah, F. O., Jnr, E. M. O., & Nyamekye, C. (2021). Detection of stress areas in cocoa farms using GIS and remote sensing: A case study of Offinso Municipal & Offinso North district, Ghana. *Environmental Challenges*, 4, 100087.
- Armin Razmjoo, A., Sumper, A., & Davarpanah, A. (2020). Energy sustainability analysis based on SDGs for developing countries. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects*, 42(9), 1041-1056.
- Armin Razmjoo, A., Sumper, A., & Davarpanah, A. (2020). Energy sustainability analysis based on SDGs for developing countries. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects*, 42(9), 1041-1056.
- Arthur, R., Baidoo, M. F. & Antwi, E. (2011). Biogas as a potential renewable energy source: a
  Ghanaian case study. Renewable Energy 36(5), 1510–1516.
  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.11.012.
- Arthur, R., Baidoo, M. F. & Antwi, E. (2011). Biogas as a potential renewable energy source: a
  Ghanaian case study. Renewable Energy 36(5), 1510–1516.
  <a href="http://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.11.012">http://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.11.012</a>.
- Arthur, R., Baidoo, M.F., Antwi, E., 2011. Biogas as a potential renewable energy source: a Ghanaian case study. Renew. Energy 36, 1510–1516

- Arthur, R., Baidoo, M.F., Antwi, E., 2011. Biogas as a potential renewable energy source: a Ghanaian case study. Renew. Energy 36, 1510–1516
- Arthur, R., M. F. Baidoo, and E. Antwi. 2011. "Biogas as a Potential Renewable Energy Source: A Ghanaian Case Study." Renewable Energy 36 (5): 1510–1516.
- Arthur, R., M. F. Baidoo, and E. Antwi. 2011. "Biogas as a Potential Renewable Energy Source: A Ghanaian Case Study." Renewable Energy 36 (5): 1510–1516.
- Awafo, E. A., & Agyeman, V. K. (2020). Development of biogas resources and technologies in Ghana, a survey.
- Awafo, E. A., & Agyeman, V. K. (2020). Development of biogas resources and technologies in Ghana, a survey.
- Awan AB, & Khan ZA. (2014). Recent progress in renewable energy Remedy of energy crisis in Pakistan. Renew Sustain Energy Rev; 33:236–53.
- Awan AB, & Khan ZA. (2014). Recent progress in renewable energy Remedy of energy crisis in Pakistan. Renew Sustain Energy Rev; 33:236–53.
- Awan, A.B. & Khan, Z.A. (2014). Recent progress in renewable energy Remedy of energy crisis
  in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 33 236–253.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.01.089.
- Awan, A.B. & Khan, Z.A. (2014). Recent progress in renewable energy Remedy of energy crisis
  in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 33 236–253.
  <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.01.089</u>.
- Aziz, N. I. H. A., Hanafiah, M. M., & Gheewala, S. H. (2019). A review on life cycle assessment of biogas production: Challenges and future perspectives in Malaysia. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 122, 361-374.

- Aziz, N. I. H. A., Hanafiah, M. M., & Gheewala, S. H. (2019). A review on life cycle assessment of biogas production: Challenges and future perspectives in Malaysia. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 122, 361-374.
- Bajgain, S., Shakya, I.S., 2005. A Successful Model of Public Private Partnership for Rural Household Energy Supply. SNV, J Kigali, Rwanda
- Bajgain, S., Shakya, I.S., 2005. A Successful Model of Public Private Partnership for Rural Household Energy Supply. SNV, J Kigali, Rwanda
- Bazilian, M., Nussbaumer, P., Cabraal, A., Centurelli, R., Detchon, R., Gielen, D., Ziegler, F., 2010. Measuring energy access: supporting a global target. In: A Paper Informed from Expert Meeting at the Earth Institute. Colombia University, New York.
- Bazilian, M., Nussbaumer, P., Cabraal, A., Centurelli, R., Detchon, R., Gielen, D., Ziegler, F., 2010. Measuring energy access: supporting a global target. In: A Paper Informed from Expert Meeting at the Earth Institute. Colombia University, New York.
- Bekchanov, M. Hossain, A. De Alwis, A. Mirzabaev, A. & Asia, S. (2019). Why adoption is slow despite promising potential of biogas technology for improving energy security and mitigating climate change in Sri Lanka? Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 105 378–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.010.
- Bekchanov, M. Hossain, A. De Alwis, A. Mirzabaev, A. & Asia, S. (2019). Why adoption is slow despite promising potential of biogas technology for improving energy security and mitigating climate change in Sri Lanka? Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 105 378–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.010.

- Bensah, E. C. & Brew-Hamond, A. (2010). Biogas technology dissemination in Ghana: history, current status, future prospects, and policy significance. International Journal of Energy and Environment 1(2), 277–294.
- Bensah, E. C. & Brew-Hamond, A. (2010). Biogas technology dissemination in Ghana: history, current status, future prospects, and policy significance. International Journal of Energy and Environment 1(2), 277–294.
- Bensah, E. C., Mensah, M. & Antwi, E. (2011). Status and prospects for household biogas plants in Ghana –lessons, barriers, potential, and way forward. Energy and Environment 2(5), 887– 898.
- Bensah, E. C., Mensah, M. & Antwi, E. (2011). Status and prospects for household biogas plants in Ghana –lessons, barriers, potential, and way forward. Energy and Environment 2(5), 887–898.
- Bond, T., and M. R. Templeton. 2011. "History and Future of Domestic Biogas Plants in the Developing World." Energy for Sustainable Development 15 (4): 347–354.
- Bond, T., and M. R. Templeton. 2011. "History and Future of Domestic Biogas Plants in the Developing World." Energy for Sustainable Development 15 (4): 347–354.
- Botha, N., and K. Atkins. 2005. "An Assessment of Five Different Theoretical Frameworks to Study the Uptake of Innovations." In Paper presented at 2005 NZARES Conference. New Zealand Agricultural and Resource Economics Society, New Zealand.
- Botha, N., and K. Atkins. 2005. "An Assessment of Five Different Theoretical Frameworks to Study the Uptake of Innovations." In Paper presented at 2005 NZARES Conference. New Zealand Agricultural and Resource Economics Society, New Zealand.

- Bridge, B., 2015. Individual and Household-Level Effects of Energy Poverty on Human Development. Thesis. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA.
- Bridge, B., 2015. Individual and Household-Level Effects of Energy Poverty on Human Development. Thesis. University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM, USA.
- Bryman, A. (2006). Paradigm peace and the implications for quality. *International journal of social research methodology*, 9(2), 111-126.
- Bryman, A. (2006). Paradigm peace and the implications for quality. *International journal of social research methodology*, 9(2), 111-126.
- Bryman, A., & Lilley, S. (2009). Leadership researchers on leadership in higher education. *Leadership*, 5(3), 331-346.
- Bryman, A., & Lilley, S. (2009). Leadership researchers on leadership in higher education. *Leadership*, 5(3), 331-346.
- Chakrabarty, S., F. M. Boksh, and A. Chakraborty. 2013. "Economic Viability of Biogas and Green Self-Employment Opportunities." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 28: 757–766.
- Chakrabarty, S., F. M. Boksh, and A. Chakraborty. 2013. "Economic Viability of Biogas and Green Self-Employment Opportunities." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 28: 757–766.
- Charters WWS. (2001). Developing markets for renewable energy technologies. Renew Energy; 22(1–3):217–22.
- Charters WWS. (2001). Developing markets for renewable energy technologies. Renew Energy; 22(1–3):217–22.

- Chirawurah, D., Santuah, N., & Apanga, S. (2022). Interactions Among Cross-Border Contiguous
  Communities and Implications for Managing Pandemics–The case of Ghana and Burkina Faso
  During the Ebola Outbreak in West Africa: A Qualitative Study. *Annals of Global Health*, 88(1).
- Chirawurah, D., Santuah, N., & Apanga, S. (2022). Interactions Among Cross-Border Contiguous
  Communities and Implications for Managing Pandemics–The case of Ghana and Burkina Faso
  During the Ebola Outbreak in West Africa: A Qualitative Study. *Annals of Global Health*, 88(1).
- Chrispim, M. C., Scholz, M., & Nolasco, M. A. (2021). Biogas recovery for sustainable cities: A critical review of enhancement techniques and key local conditions for implementation. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *72*, 103033.
- Chrispim, M. C., Scholz, M., & Nolasco, M. A. (2021). Biogas recovery for sustainable cities: A critical review of enhancement techniques and key local conditions for implementation. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *72*, 103033.
- Clemens, H. Bailis, R. Nyambane, A. & Ndung'u, V. (2018). Africa Biogas Partnership Program: A review of clean cooking implementation through market development in East Africa, Energy Sustain. Dev. 46; 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2018.05.012.
- Clemens, H. Bailis, R. Nyambane, A. & Ndung'u, V. (2018). Africa Biogas Partnership Program: A review of clean cooking implementation through market development in East Africa, Energy Sustain. Dev. 46; 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2018.05.012.
- Clemens, H., Bailis, R., Nyambane, A., & Ndung'u, V. (2018). Africa Biogas Partnership Program:
   A review of clean cooking implementation through market development in East Africa. *Energy* for Sustainable Development, 46, 23-31.

Clemens, H., Bailis, R., Nyambane, A., & Ndung'u, V. (2018). Africa Biogas Partnership Program: A review of clean cooking implementation through market development in East Africa. *Energy* for Sustainable Development, 46, 23-31.

Cooper, A. G., & Schindler, B. M. (2000). Sampling Techniques.

Cooper, A. G., & Schindler, B. M. (2000). Sampling Techniques.

- Creswell, J. (2009). Editorial: Mapping the Field of Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 3(2), 95-108.
- Creswell, J. (2009). Editorial: Mapping the Field of Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 3(2), 95-108.
- Cuenca-García, E., Sánchez, A., & Navarro-Pabsdorf, M. (2019). Assessing the performance of the least developed countries in terms of the Millennium Development Goals. *Evaluation and program planning*, 72, 54-66.
- Cuenca-García, E., Sánchez, A., & Navarro-Pabsdorf, M. (2019). Assessing the performance of the least developed countries in terms of the Millennium Development Goals. *Evaluation and program planning*, 72, 54-66.
- Dahiya, S. & Joseph, J. (2015). High rate biomethanation technology for solid waste management and rapid biogas production: an emphasis on reactor design parameters. Bioresources Technology 188, 73–78. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.01. 074.
- Dahiya, S. & Joseph, J. (2015). High rate biomethanation technology for solid waste management and rapid biogas production: an emphasis on reactor design parameters. Bioresources Technology 188, 73–78. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.01.074</u>.
- Dehkordi, S. M. M. N., Jahromi, A. R. T., Ferdowsi, A., Shumal, M., & Dehnavi, A. (2020). Investigation of biogas production potential from mechanical separated municipal solid waste

as an approach for developing countries (case study: Isfahan-Iran). *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *119*, 109586.

- Dehkordi, S. M. M. N., Jahromi, A. R. T., Ferdowsi, A., Shumal, M., & Dehnavi, A. (2020). Investigation of biogas production potential from mechanical separated municipal solid waste as an approach for developing countries (case study: Isfahan-Iran). *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 119, 109586.
- Dendup, N. & Arimura, T.H. (2019). Information leverage: The adoption of clean cooking fuel in Bhutan, Energy Policy. 125 (2019) 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.10.054.
- Dendup, N. & Arimura, T.H. (2019). Information leverage: The adoption of clean cooking fuel in Bhutan, Energy Policy. 125 (2019) 181–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.10.054</u>.
- Diouf, B., & Miezan, E. (2019). The biogas initiative in developing countries, from technical potential to failure: the case study of Senegal. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 101, 248-254.
- Diouf, B., & Miezan, E. (2019). The biogas initiative in developing countries, from technical potential to failure: the case study of Senegal. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *101*, 248-254.
- DoE (Department of Energy). 2012. A Survey of Energy-Related Behaviour and perceptions In South Africa. Accessed April 15, 2016. http://www.energy.gov.za/files/media/Pub/Survey %20of%20Energy%20related%20behaviour%20and%

20perception%20in%20SA%20%20Residential%20Sector %20-%202012.pdf.

DoE (Department of Energy). 2012. A Survey of Energy-Related Behaviour and perceptions In South Africa. Accessed April 15, 2016. http://www.energy.gov.za/files/media/Pub/Survey

%20of%20Energy%20related%20behaviour%20and%

20perception%20in%20SA%20%20Residential%20Sector %20-%202012.pdf.

- Dumont, K. B., Hildebrandt, D., & Sempuga, B. C. (2021). The "yuck factor" of biogas technology: Naturalness concerns, social acceptance and community dynamics in South Africa. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *71*, 101846.
- Dumont, K. B., Hildebrandt, D., & Sempuga, B. C. (2021). The "yuck factor" of biogas technology: Naturalness concerns, social acceptance and community dynamics in South Africa. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *71*, 101846.
- Elavarasan, R. M., Pugazhendhi, R., Jamal, T., Dyduch, J., Arif, M. T., Kumar, N. M., ... & Nadarajah, M. (2021). Envisioning the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through the lens of energy sustainability (SDG 7) in the post-COVID-19 world. *Applied Energy*, 292, 116665.
- Elavarasan, R. M., Pugazhendhi, R., Jamal, T., Dyduch, J., Arif, M. T., Kumar, N. M., ... & Nadarajah, M. (2021). Envisioning the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through the lens of energy sustainability (SDG 7) in the post-COVID-19 world. *Applied Energy*, 292, 116665.
- Farooq, M.K. & Kumar, S. (2013). An assessment of renewable energy potential for electricity generation in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 20; 240–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.09.042.
- Farooq, M.K. & Kumar, S. (2013). An assessment of renewable energy potential for electricity generation in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 20; 240–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.09.042</u>.

- Fetanat, A. Shafipour, G. & Mohtasebi, S.M. (2019). Measuring public acceptance of climatefriendly technologies based on creativity and cognitive approaches: Practical guidelines for reforming risky energy policies in Iran, Renew. Energy. 134 1248–1261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.08.107.
- Fetanat, A. Shafipour, G. & Mohtasebi, S.M. (2019). Measuring public acceptance of climatefriendly technologies based on creativity and cognitive approaches: Practical guidelines for reforming risky energy policies in Iran, Renew. Energy. 134 1248–1261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.08.107.
- Gakuu, M. C., W. R. Njoroge, and R. O. Nyonje. 2013. "Adoption of Biogas Technology Projects among Rural Household of Lanet Location-Nakuru County." Accessed April 24, 2016. http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/ 11295/36399?show=full.
- Gakuu, M. C., W. R. Njoroge, and R. O. Nyonje. 2013. "Adoption of Biogas Technology Projects among Rural Household of Lanet Location-Nakuru County." Accessed April 24, 2016. http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/ 11295/36399?show=full.
- Gao, M., Wang, D., Wang, Y., Wang, X., & Feng, Y. (2019). Opportunities and challenges for biogas development: a review in 2013–2018. *Current Pollution Reports*, 5(2), 25-35.
- Gao, M., Wang, D., Wang, Y., Wang, X., & Feng, Y. (2019). Opportunities and challenges for biogas development: a review in 2013–2018. *Current Pollution Reports*, 5(2), 25-35.
- Garfi, M., Marti-Herrero, J., Garwood, A. & Ferrer, I. (2016). Household anaerobic digesters for biogas production in Latin America: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 60, 599–614. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.01.071.

- Garfi, M., Marti-Herrero, J., Garwood, A. & Ferrer, I. (2016). Household anaerobic digesters for biogas production in Latin America: a review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 60, 599–614. <u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.01.071</u>.
- Getachew, M., 2016. Biogas Technology Adoption and its Contributions to Rural Livelihood and Environment in Northern Ethiopia, the Case of Ofla and Mecha Woredas.
- Getachew, M., 2016. Biogas Technology Adoption and its Contributions to Rural Livelihood and Environment in Northern Ethiopia, the Case of Ofla and Mecha Woredas.
- Geter Sr, L. T. (2010). A quantitative study on the relationship between transformational leadership, organizational commitment, and perception of effectiveness (Doctoral dissertation, University of Phoenix).
- Geter Sr, L. T. (2010). A quantitative study on the relationship between transformational leadership, organizational commitment, and perception of effectiveness (Doctoral dissertation, University of Phoenix).
- Ghimire, P.C., 2013. SNV supported domestic biogas programmes in Asia and Africa. Renew. Energy 49, 90–94.
- Ghimire, P.C., 2013. SNV supported domestic biogas programmes in Asia and Africa. Renew. Energy 49, 90–94.
- Giwa, A. S., Ali, N., Ahmad, I., Asif, M., Guo, R. B., Li, F. L., & Lu, M. (2020). Prospects of China's biogas: Fundamentals, challenges and considerations. *Energy Reports*, *6*, 2973-2987.
- Giwa, A. S., Ali, N., Ahmad, I., Asif, M., Guo, R. B., Li, F. L., & Lu, M. (2020). Prospects of China's biogas: Fundamentals, challenges and considerations. *Energy Reports*, *6*, 2973-2987.

- Glivin, G., Kalaiselvan, N., Mariappan, V., Premalatha, M., Murugan, P. C., & Sekhar, J. (2021).Conversion of biowaste to biogas: A review of current status on techno-economic challenges, policies, technologies and mitigation to environmental impacts. *Fuel*, *302*, 121153.
- Glivin, G., Kalaiselvan, N., Mariappan, V., Premalatha, M., Murugan, P. C., & Sekhar, J. (2021).
  Conversion of biowaste to biogas: A review of current status on techno-economic challenges, policies, technologies and mitigation to environmental impacts. *Fuel*, *302*, 121153.
- Grant, R., & Oteng-Ababio, M. (2021). Formalising E-waste in Ghana: An emerging landscape of fragmentation and enduring barriers. *Development Southern Africa*, *38*(1), 73-86.
- Grant, R., & Oteng-Ababio, M. (2021). Formalising E-waste in Ghana: An emerging landscape of fragmentation and enduring barriers. *Development Southern Africa*, *38*(1), 73-86.
- Güsewell, J., Härdtlein, M., & Eltrop, L. (2019). A plant-specific model approach to assess effects of repowering measures on existing biogas plants: The case of Baden-Wuerttemberg. *GCB Bioenergy*, *11*(1), 85-106.
- Güsewell, J., Härdtlein, M., & Eltrop, L. (2019). A plant-specific model approach to assess effects of repowering measures on existing biogas plants: The case of Baden-Wuerttemberg. GCB Bioenergy, 11(1), 85-106.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2009). Análise multivariada de dados. Bookman Editora.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2009). Análise multivariada de dados. Bookman Editora.
- Hair, J., Bush, R., & Ortinau, D. (2006). Marketing Research within a changing environment. Revised international edition. *McGraw-Hill, New York, USA*, 589, 566.

- Hair, J., Bush, R., & Ortinau, D. (2006). Marketing Research within a changing environment. Revised international edition. *McGraw-Hill, New York, USA*, 589, 566.
- Hasan, A. M., Kabir, M. A., Hoq, M. T., Johansson, M. T., & Thollander, P. (2022). Drivers and barriers to the implementation of biogas technologies in Bangladesh. *Biofuels*, *13*(5), 643-655.
- Hasan, A. M., Kabir, M. A., Hoq, M. T., Johansson, M. T., & Thollander, P. (2022). Drivers and barriers to the implementation of biogas technologies in Bangladesh. *Biofuels*, *13*(5), 643-655.
- Hayashi Jr, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98-112.
- Hayashi Jr, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(1), 98-112.
- Ibrahim, M. S., Ghavifekr, S., Ling, S., Siraj, S., & Azeez, M. I. K. (2014). Can transformational leadership influence on teachers' commitment towards organization, teaching profession, and students learning? A quantitative analysis. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 15(2), 177-190.
- Ibrahim, M. S., Ghavifekr, S., Ling, S., Siraj, S., & Azeez, M. I. K. (2014). Can transformational leadership influence on teachers' commitment towards organization, teaching profession, and students learning? A quantitative analysis. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 15(2), 177-190.
- Igliński, B., Piechota, G., Iwański, P., Skarzatek, M., & Pilarski, G. (2020). 15 Years of the Polish agricultural biogas plants: their history, current status, biogas potential and perspectives. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 22(2), 281-307.
- Igliński, B., Piechota, G., Iwański, P., Skarzatek, M., & Pilarski, G. (2020). 15 Years of the Polish agricultural biogas plants: their history, current status, biogas potential and perspectives. *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy*, 22(2), 281-307.

- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (2011). Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation (eds Core Writing team, O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona). https://doi.org/10.5860/CHOICE.49-6309.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, (2011). Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation (eds Core Writing team, O. Edenhofer, R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona). <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/CHOICE.49-6309</u>.
- International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), (2017). Turning to renewables: Climate-safe energy solutions. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2014.06.015
- International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), (2017). Turning to renewables: Climate-safe energy solutions. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2014.06.015
- Iqbal, S. Anwar, S. Akram, W. & Irfan, M. (2013). Factors Leading to Adoption of Biogas Technology: A case Study of District Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan, Int. J. Acad. Res. Bus. Soc. Sci. 3. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v3-i11/376.
- Iqbal, S. Anwar, S. Akram, W. & Irfan, M. (2013). Factors Leading to Adoption of Biogas Technology: A case Study of District Faisalabad, Punjab, Pakistan, Int. J. Acad. Res. Bus. Soc. Sci. 3. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v3-i11/376.
- Jabeen, G. Yan, Q. Ahmad, M. Fatima, N. & Qamar, S. (2019). Consumers ' intention-based influence factors of renewable power generation technology utilization : A structural equation modeling approach, J. Clean. Prod. 237 117737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117737
- Jabeen, G. Yan, Q. Ahmad, M. Fatima, N. & Qamar, S. (2019). Consumers ' intention-based influence factors of renewable power generation technology utilization : A structural equation modeling approach, J. Clean. Prod. 237 117737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.117737</u>

- Jan, I. & Akram, W. (2018). Willingness of rural communities to adopt biogas systems in Pakistan: Critical factors and policy implications, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 81 3178–3185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.141.
- Jan, I. & Akram, W. (2018). Willingness of rural communities to adopt biogas systems in Pakistan: Critical factors and policy implications, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 81 3178–3185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.141</u>.
- Jelínek, M., Mazancová, J., Van Dung, D., Banout, J., & Roubík, H. (2021). Quantification of the impact of partial replacement of traditional cooking fuels by biogas on global warming: evidence from Vietnam. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 292, 126007.
- Jelínek, M., Mazancová, J., Van Dung, D., Banout, J., & Roubík, H. (2021). Quantification of the impact of partial replacement of traditional cooking fuels by biogas on global warming: evidence from Vietnam. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 292, 126007.
- Kanangire, R.R., Mbabazize, M., Shukla, J., Wanderi, E.E.N., 2016. Determinants of adoption of improved biomass stove in rural households of Muhazi sector in Rwamagana district. J. Europ. J. Bus. Soc. Sci. 5 (6), 201–223.
- Kanangire, R.R., Mbabazize, M., Shukla, J., Wanderi, E.E.N., 2016. Determinants of adoption of improved biomass stove in rural households of Muhazi sector in Rwamagana district. J. Europ. J. Bus. Soc. Sci. 5 (6), 201–223.
- Kardooni, R. Yusoff, S.B. Kari, F.B. & Moeenizadeh, L. (2018). Public opinion on renewable energy technologies and climate change in Peninsular Malaysia, Renew. Energy. 116; 659– 668 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.09.073.

- Kardooni, R. Yusoff, S.B. Kari, F.B. & Moeenizadeh, L. (2018). Public opinion on renewable energy technologies and climate change in Peninsular Malaysia, Renew. Energy. 116; 659– 668 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.09.073.
- Karekezi S. (2002). Renewables in Africa meeting the energy needs of the poor. Energy Policy; 30:1059–69.
- Karekezi S. (2002). Renewables in Africa meeting the energy needs of the poor. Energy Policy; 30:1059–69.
- Karekezi, S. (2002). Renewables in Africa-meeting the energy needs of the poor. Energy Policy 30, 1059–1069.
- Karekezi, S. (2002). Renewables in Africa-meeting the energy needs of the poor. Energy Policy 30, 1059–1069.
- Karlsson, N. P. (2019). Business models and business cases for financial sustainability: Insights on corporate sustainability in the Swedish farm-based biogas industry. *Sustainable Production* and Consumption, 18, 115-129.
- Karlsson, N. P. (2019). Business models and business cases for financial sustainability: Insights on corporate sustainability in the Swedish farm-based biogas industry. *Sustainable Production* and Consumption, 18, 115-129.
- Kaur, G., Sharma, N. K., Kaur, J., Bajaj, M., Zawbaa, H. M., Turky, R. A., & Kamel, S. (2022).
  Prospects of biogas and evaluation of unseen livestock-based resource potential as distributed generation in India. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, *13*(4), 101657.
- Kaur, G., Sharma, N. K., Kaur, J., Bajaj, M., Zawbaa, H. M., Turky, R. A., & Kamel, S. (2022).
  Prospects of biogas and evaluation of unseen livestock-based resource potential as distributed generation in India. *Ain Shams Engineering Journal*, *13*(4), 101657.

- Kelebe, H.E. Ayimut, K.M. Berhe, G.H. & Hintsa, K. (2017). Determinants for adoption decision of small scale biogas technology by rural households in Tigray, Ethiopia, Energy Econ. 66 272–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2017.06.022.
- Kelebe, H.E. Ayimut, K.M. Berhe, G.H. & Hintsa, K. (2017). Determinants for adoption decision of small scale biogas technology by rural households in Tigray, Ethiopia, Energy Econ. 66 272–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2017.06.022.
- Kelebe, H.E., Ayimut, K.M., Berhe, G.H., Hintsa, K., 2017. Determinants for adoption decision of small scale biogas technology by rural households in Tigray, Ethiopia. J. Energy Econ. 66, 272–278.
- Kelebe, H.E., Ayimut, K.M., Berhe, G.H., Hintsa, K., 2017. Determinants for adoption decision of small scale biogas technology by rural households in Tigray, Ethiopia. J. Energy Econ. 66, 272–278.
- Kemausuor, F., Adaramola, M. S., & Morken, J. (2018). A review of commercial biogas systems and lessons for Africa. *Energies*, *11*(11), 2984.
- Kemausuor, F., Adaramola, M. S., & Morken, J. (2018). A review of commercial biogas systems and lessons for Africa. *Energies*, *11*(11), 2984.
- Khalil, H.B. & Zaidi, S.J.H. (2014). Energy crisis and potential of solar energy in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 31 194–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.11.023.
- Khalil, H.B. & Zaidi, S.J.H. (2014). Energy crisis and potential of solar energy in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 31 194–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.11.023</u>.
- Khan, M. U., Lee, J. T. E., Bashir, M. A., Dissanayake, P. D., Ok, Y. S., Tong, Y. W., ... & Ahring,
  B. K. (2021). Current status of biogas upgrading for direct biomethane use: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *149*, 111343.

- Khan, M. U., Lee, J. T. E., Bashir, M. A., Dissanayake, P. D., Ok, Y. S., Tong, Y. W., ... & Ahring,
  B. K. (2021). Current status of biogas upgrading for direct biomethane use: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 149, 111343.
- Khann, E. U. & Martin, A. R. (2016). Review of biogas digester technology in rural Bangladesh.
  Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 62, 247–259.
  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.04.044.
- Khann, E. U. & Martin, A. R. (2016). Review of biogas digester technology in rural Bangladesh.
  Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 62, 247–259.
  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.04.044.
- Kiselev, A., & Magaril, E. L. E. N. A. (2022). Financial tools for biogas project implementation at wastewater treatment plants: A case study of the Russian Federation. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ, 255, 63-77.
- Kiselev, A., & Magaril, E. L. E. N. A. (2022). Financial tools for biogas project implementation at wastewater treatment plants: A case study of the Russian Federation. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ, 255, 63-77.
- Klasen, E., Miranda, J., Khatry, S., Menya, D., Gilman, R., Tielsch, J., Kennedy, C., Dreibelbis,
  R., Naithani, N., Kimaiyo, S., Chiang, M., Carter, J., Sherman, C., Breysse, P., William
  Checkley, W., 2013. Feasibility intervention trial of two types of improved cookstoves in three
  resource limited settings: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 14, 327.
- Klasen, E., Miranda, J., Khatry, S., Menya, D., Gilman, R., Tielsch, J., Kennedy, C., Dreibelbis,
  R., Naithani, N., Kimaiyo, S., Chiang, M., Carter, J., Sherman, C., Breysse, P., William
  Checkley, W., 2013. Feasibility intervention trial of two types of improved cookstoves in three
  resource limited settings: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 14, 327.

- Kortei, N. K., Annan, T., Akonor, P. T., Richard, S. A., Annan, H. A., Kyei-Baffour, V., ... & Esua-Amoafo, P. (2021). The occurrence of aflatoxins and human health risk estimations in randomly obtained maize from some markets in Ghana. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 1-13.
- Kortei, N. K., Annan, T., Akonor, P. T., Richard, S. A., Annan, H. A., Kyei-Baffour, V., ... & Esua-Amoafo, P. (2021). The occurrence of aflatoxins and human health risk estimations in randomly obtained maize from some markets in Ghana. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 1-13.
- Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research methodology: Methods and techniques. New Age International.
- Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research methodology: Methods and techniques. New Age International.
- Kumasi Institute of Technology and Energy (2008). Feasibility Study Report on Domestic Biogas in Ghana. Submitted to Shell Foundation, Accra, Ghana
- Kumasi Institute of Technology and Energy (2008). Feasibility Study Report on Domestic Biogas in Ghana. Submitted to Shell Foundation, Accra, Ghana
- Larionova, M. (2020). The Challenges of Attaining the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). *International Organisations Research Journal*, *15*(1), 155-176.
- Larionova, M. (2020). The Challenges of Attaining the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). *International Organisations Research Journal*, *15*(1), 155-176.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (1998). Methods for sampling and interviewing in telephone surveys. *Handbook* of applied social research methods, 429-472.
- Lavrakas, P. J. (1998). Methods for sampling and interviewing in telephone surveys. *Handbook of applied social research methods*, 429-472.
- Legesse, W., Derese, A., Samuel, T., 2015. Determinants of adoption of improved stove technology in Dendi dis- trict, west shoa, Oromia regional state, Ethiopia, 4 (4), 69–78

- Legesse, W., Derese, A., Samuel, T., 2015. Determinants of adoption of improved stove technology in Dendi dis- trict, west shoa, Oromia regional state, Ethiopia, 4 (4), 69–78
- Lemlem, T., 2016. Bio-gas technology adoption in rural Ethiopia: it's effect on the crisis of deforestation journal of energy technologies and policy, 6 (1). ISSN 2224-3232.
- Lemlem, T., 2016. Bio-gas technology adoption in rural Ethiopia: it's effect on the crisis of deforestation journal of energy technologies and policy, 6 (1). ISSN 2224-3232.
- Lewicki, A., Dach, J., Kozlowski, K., Marks, S., Jezowska, A., & Kupryaniuk, K. (2018, March).
  Potential of biogas production from palm oil Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) in South-East Asia.
  In 2018 2nd International Conference on Green Energy and Applications (ICGEA) (pp. 1-4).
  IEEE.
- Lewicki, A., Dach, J., Kozlowski, K., Marks, S., Jezowska, A., & Kupryaniuk, K. (2018, March).
  Potential of biogas production from palm oil Empty Fruit Bunch (EFB) in South-East Asia.
  In 2018 2nd International Conference on Green Energy and Applications (ICGEA) (pp. 1-4).
  IEEE.
- Lewis, J., Pattanayak, K., 2012. Review who adopts improved fuels and cookstoves? A Systematic Review, 120 (5), 637–645.
- Lewis, J., Pattanayak, K., 2012. Review who adopts improved fuels and cookstoves? A Systematic Review, 120 (5), 637–645.
- Lu, J., & Gao, X. (2021). Biogas: Potential, challenges, and perspectives in a changing China. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *150*, 106127.
- Lu, J., & Gao, X. (2021). Biogas: Potential, challenges, and perspectives in a changing China. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *150*, 106127.

- Malhotra, P., & Singh, B. (2006). The Impact of Internet Banking on Bank's Performance: The Indian Experience. *South Asian Journal of Management*, *13*(4).
- Malhotra, P., & Singh, B. (2006). The Impact of Internet Banking on Bank's Performance: The Indian Experience. *South Asian Journal of Management*, *13*(4).
- Mata-Alvarez, J., Dosta, J., Romero-Güiza, M. S., Fonoll, X., Peces, M. & Astals, S. (2014). A critical review on anaerobic co-digestion achievements between 2010 and 2013. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 36, 412–427. http://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.039.
- Mata-Alvarez, J., Dosta, J., Romero-Güiza, M. S., Fonoll, X., Peces, M. & Astals, S. (2014). A critical review on anaerobic co-digestion achievements between 2010 and 2013. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 36, 412–427. http://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.039.
- Mateescu, C., & Dima, A. D. (2020). Critical analysis of key barriers and challenges to the growth of the biogas sector: A case study for Romania. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-14.
- Mateescu, C., & Dima, A. D. (2020). Critical analysis of key barriers and challenges to the growth of the biogas sector: A case study for Romania. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-14.
- Mateescu, C., & Dima, A. D. (2020). Critical analysis of key barriers and challenges to the growth of the biogas sector: A case study for Romania. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-14.
- Mateescu, C., & Dima, A. D. (2020). Critical analysis of key barriers and challenges to the growth of the biogas sector: A case study for Romania. *Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery*, 1-14.
- Maxwell, V. 2014. "Biogas in Rural South Africa." Accessed June 1, 2018. http://vbn.aau.dk/ws/files/174152870/Biogas\_in\_Rural\_South\_Africa.pdf.
- Maxwell, V. 2014. "Biogas in Rural South Africa." Accessed June 1, 2018. http://vbn.aau.dk/ws/files/174152870/ Biogas\_in\_Rural\_South\_Africa.pdf.

- Meijer, S. S., D. Catacutan, O. C. Ajayi, G. W. Sileshi, and M. Nieuwenhuis. 2015. "The Role of Knowledge, Attitudes and Perceptions in the Uptake of Agricultural and Agroforestry Innovations among Smallholder Farmers in Sub-Saharan Africa." International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability 13 (1): 40–54.
- Meijer, S. S., D. Catacutan, O. C. Ajayi, G. W. Sileshi, and M. Nieuwenhuis. 2015. "The Role of Knowledge, Attitudes and Perceptions in the Uptake of Agricultural and Agroforestry Innovations among Smallholder Farmers in Sub-Saharan Africa." International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability 13 (1): 40–54.
- Melaku, B., Dana, H., Girmay, T., Catherine, K., 2017. Factors Influencing the Adoption of Biogas Digesters in Rural Ethiopia.
- Melaku, B., Dana, H., Girmay, T., Catherine, K., 2017. Factors Influencing the Adoption of Biogas Digesters in Rural Ethiopia.
- Mellinger, C. D., & Hanson, T. A. (2020). Methodological considerations for survey research: Validity, reliability, and quantitative analysis. *Linguistica Antverpiensia, New Series–Themes in Translation Studies*, 19.
- Mellinger, C. D., & Hanson, T. A. (2020). Methodological considerations for survey research: Validity, reliability, and quantitative analysis. *Linguistica Antverpiensia, New Series–Themes in Translation Studies*, 19.
- Mkandawire, S. B. (2019). Selected Common Methods and Tools for Data Collection in Research. Marvel Publishers..
- Mkandawire, S. B. (2019). Selected Common Methods and Tools for Data Collection in Research. Marvel Publishers..

- Modiselle, S., C. J. van Rooyen, C. Laurent, M. T. Makhura, W. Anseeuw, and J. Casterns. 2005.
  "Towards Describing Small-Scale Agriculture: An Analysis of Diversity and the Impact There of the Lielifontein Area (Northern Cape, South Africa)." South African Journal of Agricultural Extension 34 (2): 303–317.
- Modiselle, S., C. J. van Rooyen, C. Laurent, M. T. Makhura, W. Anseeuw, and J. Casterns. 2005.
  "Towards Describing Small-Scale Agriculture: An Analysis of Diversity and the Impact There of the Lielifontein Area (Northern Cape, South Africa)." South African Journal of Agricultural Extension 34 (2): 303–317.
- Msibi, S. S., and G. Kornelius. 2017. "Potential for Domestic Biogas as Household Energy Supply in South Africa." Journal of Energy in Southern Africa 28 (2): 1–13
- Msibi, S. S., and G. Kornelius. 2017. "Potential for Domestic Biogas as Household Energy Supply in South Africa." Journal of Energy in Southern Africa 28 (2): 1–13
- Mukeshimana, M. C., Zhao, Z. Y., Ahmad, M., & Irfan, M. (2021). Analysis on barriers to biogas dissemination in Rwanda: AHP approach. *Renewable Energy*, *163*, 1127-1137.
- Mukeshimana, M. C., Zhao, Z. Y., Ahmad, M., & Irfan, M. (2021). Analysis on barriers to biogas dissemination in Rwanda: AHP approach. *Renewable Energy*, *163*, 1127-1137.
- Mulinda, C., Hu, Q. & Pan, K. (2013). Dissemination and problems of African biogas technology. Energy and Power Engineering (5), 506–512. http://doi.org/10.4236/epe.2013.58055.
- Mulinda, C., Hu, Q. & Pan, K. (2013). Dissemination and problems of African biogas technology. Energy and Power Engineering (5), 506–512. http://doi.org/10.4236/epe.2013.58055.
- Muller, C., Yan, H., 2018. Household fuel use in developing countries: Review of theory and evidence. J. Energy Econ. 70, 429–439.

- Muller, C., Yan, H., 2018. Household fuel use in developing countries: Review of theory and evidence. J. Energy Econ. 70, 429–439.
- Mutungwazi, A., P. Mukumba, and G. Makaka. 2018. "Biogas Digester Types Installed in South Africa: A Review." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 81: 172–180.
- Mutungwazi, A., P. Mukumba, and G. Makaka. 2018. "Biogas Digester Types Installed in South Africa: A Review." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 81: 172–180.
- Mwirigi, J., B. B. Balana, J. Mugisha, P. Walekhwa, R. Melamu, S. Nakami, and P. Makenzi.
  2014. "Socio-economic Hurdles to Widespread Adoption of Small-Scale Biogas Digesters in
  Sub-Saharan Africa: A Review." Biomass and Bioenergy 70: 17–25
- Nape, K. M., P. Magama, M. E. Moeletsi, M. I. Tongwane, P. M. Nakana, V. K. Mliswa, M. Motsepe, and S. Madikiza. 2019. "Introduction of Household Biogas Digesters in Rural Farming Households of the Maluti-a-Phofung Municipality, South Africa." Journal of Energy in Southern Africa 30 (2): 28–37.
- Negro SO, Alkemade F, & Hekkert MP. (2012). Why does renewable energy diffuse so slowly? A review of innovation system problems. Renew Sustain Energy Rev; 16(6):3836–46.
- Neuman, W. L. (2011). Social Research Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. USA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Nevzorova, T. (2020). Biogas production in the Russian federation: Current status, potential, and barriers. *Energies*, *13*(14), 3620.
- Njoroge, D. K. (2002). Evolution of Biogas Technology in South Sudan; Current and Future Challenges. http://www.mekarn.org/ procbiod/kuria.htm.
- Nkansah, C., Serwaa, D., Adarkwah, L. A., Osei-Boakye, F., Mensah, K., Tetteh, P., ... & Apodola, A. (2020). Novel coronavirus disease 2019: knowledge, practice and preparedness: a survey

of healthcare workers in the Offinso-North District, Ghana. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 35(Suppl 2).

- Nkansah, C., Serwaa, D., Osei-Boakye, F., & Owusu-Ampomah, R. (2022). Magnitude and trend of HIV and Treponema pallidum infections among blood donors in Offinso-North District, Ghana: a nine-year retrospective, cross-sectional study. *African Health Sciences*, 22(1), 465-74.
- Norouzi, O., & Dutta, A. (2022). The current status and future potential of biogas production from Canada's organic fraction municipal solid waste. *Energies*, *15*(2), 475.
- Nurul, A. M., Suhaimi, D., Nurshuhada, S., Roslan, M. Y., & Norazean, M. F. (2018). Current status of animal waste-based biogas plants in Malaysia. *Malaysian J Vet Res*, 9(2), 117-121.
- Obaideen, K., Abdelkareem, M. A., Wilberforce, T., Elsaid, K., Sayed, E. T., Maghrabie, H. M., & Olabi, A. G. (2022). Biogas role in achievement of the sustainable development goals: Evaluation, Challenges, and Guidelines. *Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 131, 104207.
- Osei-Marfo, M., Awuah, E., & de Vries, N. K. (2018). Biogas technology diffusion and shortfalls in the central and greater Accra regions of Ghana. *Water Practice & Technology*, 13(4), 932-946.
- Osei-Marfo, M., Awuah, E., & de Vries, N. K. (2018). Biogas technology diffusion and shortfalls in the central and greater Accra regions of Ghana. *Water Practice & Technology*, 13(4), 932-946.
- Pandyaswargo, A. H., Jagath Dickella Gamaralalage, P., Liu, C., Knaus, M., Onoda, H., Mahichi,F., & Guo, Y. (2019). Challenges and an implementation framework for sustainable municipal

organic waste management using biogas technology in emerging Asian Countries. *Sustainability*, *11*(22), 6331.

- Patinvoh, R. J., & Taherzadeh, M. J. (2019). Challenges of biogas implementation in developing countries. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health*, *12*, 30-37.
- Pollet, B. G., I. Stafell, and K. A. Adamson. 2015. "Current Energy Landscape in the Republic of South Africa." International Journal of Hydrogen Energy 40: 16685–16701
- Puzzolo, E., D. Pope, D. Stanistreet, E. A. Rehfuess, and N. G. Bruce. 2016. "Clean Fuels for Resource-Poor Settings: A Systematic Review of Barriers and Enablers to Adoption and Sustained use." Environmental Research 146: 218–234.
- Puzzolo, E., Pope, D., Stanestreet, D., Rehfuess, E.A., Bruce, N.G., 2016. Clean fuels for resourcepoor settings: a systematic review of barriers and enablers to adoption and sustained use. Environ. Res. 12, 218–234
- Raheem, D., Dayoub, M., Birech, R., & Nakiyemba, A. (2021). The contribution of cereal grains to food security and sustainability in Africa: potential application of UAV in Ghana, Nigeria, Uganda, and Namibia. *Urban Science*, 5(1), 8.
- Rasapoor, M., Young, B., Brar, R., Sarmah, A., Zhuang, W. Q., & Baroutian, S. (2020). Recognizing the challenges of anaerobic digestion: Critical steps toward improving biogas generation. *Fuel*, 261, 116497.
- Rasul, G., and B. Sharma. 2016. "The Nexus Approach to Water-Energy-Food Security: An Option for Adaptation to Climate Change." Climate Policy 16 (6): 682–702.
- Rauf, O. Wang, S. Yuan, P. & Tan, J. (2015). An overview of energy status and development in Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 48; 892–931. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.012.

Rogers, E. M. 1995. Diffusion of Innovations. 4th ed. New York: The Free Press.

- Roubík, H. Mazancová, J. Le Dinh, P. Dinh Van, D. & Banout, J. (2018). Biogas quality across smallscale biogas plants: A case of central vietnam, Energies. 11 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11071794.
- Roubík, H., Mazancová, J., Le Dinh, P., Dinh Van, D., & Banout, J. (2018). Biogas quality across small-scale biogas plants: A case of central Vietnam. *Energies*, *11*(7), 1794.
- Rupf, V. G., Bahri, A. P., Boer, d. K. & Mchenry, P. M. (2015). Barriers and opportunities of biogas dissemination in Sub-Saharan Africa and lessons learned from Rwanda, Tanzania, China, India, and Nepal. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 52, 468–476. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.07.107.
- SABIA (South African Biogas Industry Association). 2016. Biogas Industry in South Africa: An Assessment of the Skills Need and Estimation of the Job Potential.
- Saidmamatov, O., Rudenko, I., Baier, U., & Khodjaniyazov, E. (2021). Challenges and solutions for biogas production from agriculture waste in the Aral Sea Basin. *Processes*, *9*(2), 199.
- Sasse, L. (1988). Biogas Plants. Federal Republic of Germany: Technische Zusammenarbeit GmbH, Eschborn, Germany.
- Shahzad, U., 2012. The need for renewable energy sources. J. Energy Econ. 2, 16–18
- Shaibur, M. R., Husain, H., & Arpon, S. H. (2021). Utilization of cow dung residues of biogas plant for sustainable development of a rural community. *Current Research in Environmental Sustainability*, 3, 100026.
- Shallo, L., M. Ayele, and G. Sime. 2020. "Determinants of Biogas Technology Adoption in Southern Ethiopia." Energy, Sustainability and Society 10 (1): 1–13.

- Shao, G., Tang, L., & Liao, J. (2019). Overselling overall map accuracy misinforms about research reliability. *Landscape Ecology*, 34(11), 2487-2492.
- Sibisi, N. T., and J. M. Green. 2005. "A Floating Dome Biogas Digester: Perceptions of Energising Rural School in Maphetheni KwaZulu-Natal." Journal of Energy in Southern Africa 16 (5): 45–52
- Singh, B., Szamosi, Z., Siménfalvi, Z., & Rosas-Casals, M. (2020). Decentralized biomass for biogas production. Evaluation and potential assessment in Punjab (India). *Energy Reports*, 6, 1702-1714.
- Sirothiya, M., & Chavadi, C. (2020). Compressed biogas (cbg) as an alternative and sustainable energy source in India: Case study on implementation frameworks and challenges. *Invertis Journal of Renewable Energy*, *10*(2), 49-64.
- Smith, J. U. (2011). The Potential of Small-Scale Biogas Digesters to Alleviate Poverty and Improve Long Term Sustainability of Ecosystem Service in Sub-Saharan Africa. Ethiopia.
- Smith, M. T., J. S. Goebel, and J. N. Blignaut. 2014. "The Financial and Economic Feasibility of Rural Household Biodigesters for Poor Communities in South Africa." Waste Management 34 (2): 352–362.
- Statistics South Africa. 2016. General Household Survey [Online]. Pretoria, South Africa. www.statssa.gov.za.
- Surendra, K. C., Takara, D., Hashimoto, A. G. & Khanal, S. K. (2014). Biogas as a sustainable energy source for developing countries: opportunities and challenges. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 31, 846–859. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.12.015
- Sürücü, L., & MASLAKÇI, A. (2020). Validity and reliability in quantitative research. *Business & Management Studies: An International Journal*, 8(3), 2694-2726.
- Tabatabaei, M., Aghbashlo, M., Valijanian, E., Panahi, H. K. S., Nizami, A. S., Ghanavati, H., ...
  & Karimi, K. (2020). A comprehensive review on recent biological innovations to improve biogas production, part 1: upstream strategies. *Renewable Energy*, *146*, 1204-1220.
- Taele, B. M., K. K. Gopinathan, and L. Mokhuts'oane. 2007. "The Potential of Renewable Energy Technologies for Rural Developmentin Lesotho." Renewable Energy 32 (4): 609–622
- Tagne, R. F. T., Dong, X., Anagho, S. G., Kaiser, S., & Ulgiati, S. (2021). Technologies, challenges and perspectives of biogas production within an agricultural context. The case of China and Africa. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 23(10), 14799-14826.
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (2009). Integrating qualitative and quantitative approaches to research. *The SAGE handbook of applied social research methods*, *2*, 283-317.
- Tian, H., Wang, X., Lim, E. Y., Lee, J. T., Ee, A. W., Zhang, J., & Tong, Y. W. (2021). Life cycle assessment of food waste to energy and resources: Centralized and decentralized anaerobic digestion with different downstream biogas utilization. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 150, 111489.
- Ting, M. B., and R. Byrne. 2020. "Eskom and the Rise of Renewables: Regime-Resistance, Crisis and the Strategy of Incumbency in South Africa's Electricity System." Energy Research & Social Science 60: 10133.
- Uhunamure, S.E. Nethengwe, N.S. & Tinarwo, D. (2019). Correlating the factors influencing household decisions on adoption and utilisation of biogas technology in South Africa, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 107 264–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.03.006.
- Uhunamure, S.E. Nethengwe, N.S. & Tinarwo, D. (2019). Correlating the factors influencing household decisions on adoption and utilisation of biogas technology in South Africa, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 107; 264–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.03.006</u>

- United Nation Development Programm, 2009. The Energy Access in Situation in Developing Countries: A Review Focusing on the Least Developed Countries and Subsaharan Africa. UNDP, New York
- United Nations (2011). Promotion of New and Renewable Sources of Energy. http://www.un.org/esa/dsd/resources/res\_pdfs/ga66/SG%20report\_Promotion\_new\_renewabl e\_energy.pdf
- Van Dael, M. Lizin, S. Swinnen, G. & Van Passel, S. (2017). Young people's acceptance of bioenergy and the influence of attitude strength on information provision, Renew. Energy. 107; 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.02.010.
- Vera, I., and L. Langlois. 2007. "Energy Indicators for Sustainable Development." Energy 32 (6): 875–882.
- Von Bormann, T., and M. Gulati. 2014. "The Food Energy Water Nexus: Understanding South Africa's Most Urgent Sustainability Challenge." South Africa: WWF-SA. Accessed September 3, 2016. http://www.wwf.org.za/? 10701/Understanding-South-Africas-mosturgentsustainability-challenge.
- Wargert, D. 2009. "Biogas in Developing Rural Areas." Lund University, Lorenzo Di Lucia.
- Weststrate, J., Dijkstra, G., Eshuis, J., Gianoli, A., & Rusca, M. (2019). The sustainable development goal on water and sanitation: learning from the millennium development goals. *Social Indicators Research*, *143*(2), 795-810.
- Williams, N. B., Quilliam, R. S., Campbell, B., Raha, D., Baruah, D. C., Clarke, M. L., ... & Dickie, J. (2022). Challenging perceptions of socio-cultural rejection of a taboo technology: Narratives of imagined transitions to domestic toilet-linked biogas in India. *Energy Research & Social Science*, *92*, 102802.

- Willis, Z., Sten, M. B., Daniels, L., Juliano, J., Swartwood, M., Davis, R., ... & Weber, D. J. (2020). Implementation of Antibiotic Time Outs Using Quality Improvement Methodology. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 41(S1), s275-s276.
- Woldesilassie, G.S., Seyoum, A., 2017. The determinants of biogas technology adoption and its implication on environmental sustainability: the case of Aletawondo Woreda, Sidama Zone, South Ethiopia. J. Energy Technol. Policy 7 (8) (ISSN 2224- 3232(Paper) ISSN 2225-0573 (Online))
- World Bank (2015). The Little Green Data Book, International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. Washington DC: World Bank.
- Xue, S., Song, J., Wang, X., Shang, Z., Sheng, C., Li, C., ... & Liu, J. (2020). A systematic comparison of biogas development and related policies between China and Europe and corresponding insights. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 117, 109474.
- Yasar, A. Nazir, S. Tabinda, A.B. Nazar, M. Rasheed, R. & Afzaal, M. (2017). Socio-economic, health and agriculture benefits of rural household biogas plants in energy scarce developing countries: A case study from Pakistan, Renew. Energy. 108; 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2017.02.044.
- Yimen, N., Hamandjoda, O., Meva'a, L., Ndzana, B., & Nganhou, J. (2018). Analyzing of a photovoltaic/wind/biogas/pumped-hydro off-grid hybrid system for rural electrification in Sub-Saharan Africa—Case study of Djoundé in Northern Cameroon. *Energies*, 11(10), 2644.
- Zafar, U. Ur Rashid, T. Khosa, A.A. Khalil, M.S. & Rahid, M. (2018). An overview of implemented renewable energy policy of Pakistan, Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 82 654–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.09.034.

- Zheng, L., Chen, J., Zhao, M., Cheng, S., Wang, L. P., Mang, H. P., & Li, Z. (2020). What could China give to and take from other countries in terms of the development of the biogas industry? *Sustainability*, 12(4), 1490.
- Zupančič, M., Možic, V., Može, M., Cimerman, F., & Golobič, I. (2022). Current status and review of waste-to-biogas conversion for selected European countries and worldwide. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), 1823.

#### **APPENDIX A**

#### QUESTIONNAIRE

Dear respondent, this questionnaire is designed to gather data about the influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use biogas technologies and the implementation benefits in terms of the socio-economic, environmental, health and climate issues in relation among households in the rural areas of Offinso North district in the Ashanti region of Ghana. Your kind cooperation in this research is very much appreciated. Your anonymity and confidentiality are assured.

#### SECTION A: YOUR PERSONAL DATA

Please indicate your response to statements by ticking  $[\sqrt{}]$  the appropriate box.

- 1. Age: Below 20 years [] 20-29 years [] 30-39 years [] 40-49 years [] 50-59 years [] 60 years or above []
- 2. Gender: Male [ ] Female [ ]

#### THE LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE AND PERCEPTION OF HOUSEHOLDS ON THE USE OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY

This category contains statements about the level of knowledge and perception of households on the use of biogas technology. Please indicate your level of agreement to the statements using the 5-point Likert scale below by ticking  $[\sqrt{}]$  the appropriate box:

1= Strongly disagree 2= Disagree	3= Undecided 4= Agree	5 = Strongly agree
1 - Buongiy uisagi ee 2 - Disagi ee	5- Onucciucu +- Agree	5 – Strongly agree

S/N	Statement	1	2	3	4	5
1.	The advantages of biogas energy are not widely known					
2.	The family is reluctant to the use of biogas technology					
3.	The price of biogas technology installation is greater					
4.	There are not many livestock					
5.	Water supplies are insufficient and unreliable					
6.	Having a sufficient and dependable water source is challenging					
7.	The ability to obtain credit is challenging					
8.	Training linked to biogas technology is difficult to get access to					
9.	Crop yields are directly increased by biogas					
10.	Time saved by biogas can be used for other tasks that generate cash					

#### WHETHER INFLUENCING FACTORS FOR HOUSEHOLD DECISIONS ON ADOPTION AND USE OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY HAS ANY EFFECT ON THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE ASPECTS AND IDENTIFY THE MAJOR CHALLENGES HINDERING THE ADOPTION OF THE BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY

This category contains statements about whether influencing factors for household decisions on adoption and use of biogas technology has any effect on the socio-economic, health, environment and climate aspects and identify the major challenges hindering the adoption of the biogas technology. Please indicate your level of agreement to the statements using the 5-point Likert scale below by ticking  $[\sqrt{}]$  the appropriate box:

1= Strongly disagree 2= Disagree 3= Undecided 4= Agree 5 = Strongly agree

S/N	Statement	1	2	3	4	5
1.	Adoption is still going slowly					
2.	There are not enough resources					
3.	The infrastructure is subpar					
4.	Travel expenses and erratic supplies					
5.	Installations of biogas entail significant financial outlays					
6.	The expensive management and upkeep of biogas plants					
7.	There aren't enough subsidies					
8.	Higher pricing for biogas and lower prices for fossil fuels					
9.	Political backing and targeted initiatives to advance biogas					
	technologies are lacking					
10.	Lack of private sector involvement and ineffective public-private					
	sector collaboration are obstacles to the uptake of biogas					
11.	Lack of consumer interest and public participation					
12.	Projects involving biogas fail because they conflict with local					
	beliefs					
13.	Lack of understanding among the populace as a whole					
14.	Lack of knowledge and minimal communication with potential					
	adopters					
15.	Adoption of biogas technologies is hampered by low literacy rates					
16.	There is difficulty to switch from old technology that is free to a					
	stove that has upfront expenses, and other demands are prioritized					
17.	Noise toxicity					
18.	Concerns about odor					
19.	Biogas digesters require a lot of water resources					

#### THE APPROACHES USED BY THE GOVERNMENT AND NGOS IN THE DEVELOPMENT, DESIGNING AND IMPLEMENTATION OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY IN-ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE CAUSES OF THE SYSTEM FAILURE

This category contains statements about the approaches used by the government and NGOs in the development, designing and implementation of biogas technology in-order to establish the causes of the system failure. Please indicate your level of agreement to the statements using the 5-point Likert scale below by ticking  $[\sqrt{}]$  the appropriate box:

1= Strongly disagree 2= Disagree 3= Undecided 4= Agree 5 = Strongly agree

S/N	Statement	1	2	3	4	5
1.	The central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would					
	need to be opened for an inspection					
2.	Utilize a premium brick stacking standard when building					
3.	For the best biogas production, use feedstocks with the right C/N					
	ratio					
4.	To make sure the biodigester is correctly fed, make sure it gets the					
	right amount of feed each day and check the feeding logbook					
5.	To prevent digestion failure in the biogas plant, the operator should					
	keep the ammonia content below 2000 ppm, or between 50 and 200					
	mg/L					
6.	To prevent harm to the biodigester system, volatile fatty acid					
	concentrations should be fewer than 2000 parts per million (ppm)					
7.	Verify the flame's color at the waste gas burner					
8.	Ensure that the sodium concentration stays between 3500 and 5500					
	parts per million, according to the operator (ppm)					
9.	The operator must ensure that the soluble heavy metal content is					
	kept to less than 0.5 mg/L					
10.	The operator should monitor any temperature changes that occur					
	during the anaerobic digestion process					
11.	The operator should be aware of the digester's mixing, temperature					
	changes, and uneven supply if there is foam					
12.	Struvite deposits in the digesters should be monitored by the					
	operator because they are challenging to remove					ĺ

### **APPENDIX B**

## DATA COLLECTION PICTURES



WHETHER INFLUENCING FACTORS FOR HOUSEHOLD DECISIONS ON ADOPTION AND USE OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY HAS ANY EFFECT ON THE SOCIO-ECONOMIC, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE ASPECTS AND IDENTIFY THE MAJOR CHALLENGES HINDERING THE ADOPTION OF THE BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY



# THE LEVEL OF KNOWLEDGE AND PERCEPTION OF HOUSEHOLDS ON THE USE OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY



# THE APPROACHES USED BY THE GOVERNMENT AND NGOS IN THE DEVELOPMENT, DESIGNING AND IMPLEMENTATION OF BIOGAS TECHNOLOGY IN-ORDER TO ESTABLISH THE CAUSES OF THE SYSTEM FAILURE

The central manhole cover lid or the expansion chamber would need to be opened for an inspection

23 responses